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ProreClion of th e Home and Person Guaranteed 
"The right of the people to be secure in their persons, 

hOllses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches 
and sei zures. shOll! not be violated, and no Warrants shall 
issue, bm upon probable cause, supported by G>ath or 
affirmation , and particularly describi ng the p lace to be 
searched, and the persons or things to be seized." 

T H E foregoing provisions, constituting the Fourth Amend­
ment of th e Federa l Const ituLion. stand guard over Oll r 

homes and persons against tyrannical trespassing and vio­
lence inspi red by malicious or more si nister moti ves of public 
officials or Ollf personal enemies. 

This right, as all other rights en umerated in the Bill of 
Ri ghts, had its I?rigin in the early li fe of the English people. 
fl springs from the ve ry nature of government of, by, alld fo r 
the people, wh ich is in the Engli sh trad ition. 

Before one's person or home or other possession can be 
legally molested , ge nera ll y a Warrant for such purpose mtlst 
issue from some duly constituted public authority. The Wa rrant 
must /Jfl,rliculariy describe the place to be searched, and the 
person or property to be seized; and no legal 'Warrant will be 
issued UIlle.~S the person seeking it shall make oath in writing in 
SllPPOI'l of the grounds upon which he claims the right to have 
it iss ued. 

The general Warrant was illegali zed in England for all time 
in ;1lI action involving an alleged libelous publication in 1763 
durin g the rei gn of George III. 

Lord Halifax, onc of the Sccre tal'ies of St~lt e, iss ued a ge neral 
\ValTant, which described no person , but which empowered the 
police to arrest anyone they might believe guilty of the libel. 
This led to the arrest of man y innocent persons and ult imately 
LO the arres t of the guilty person, John \Vilkes . 
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The Warrant, bei ng in effect against the entire English na­
tion, was declared invalid by th e couns, and th e decision was 
confirmed by the I-louse of Commons. 

Accordingly some twenty-five years later, this principle was 
written into our fun da mental law as the f ourth Ame nd ment 
to Ollr Federal Constiw tion . 

. Lest the foregoing statements lull some o[ our readers into a 
fa lse se nse of security , the purpose of the amendmellt is to pro­
tect l(lw abidi7lg ci tizens, but not lO prevent law enforcement 
officers from searching for and seizing, in certai n circumstances, 
criminals and the evide nce of their cri mes. 

It will be noted that the general purpose of the Amendment 
is to prevent unre(lsonable searches and se izures. Thus when the 
Amendment and the various laws passed pursuant th ereto have 
come before our courts for construction and interpretation, soch 
Amendment and laws have been co nstrued or interpreted in such 
manner as to permit searches and seizures without a \Varnllll in 
certai n special ci rcumstances. For example, police officers may 
stop and search automobiles and other veh icles, the occupants 
of which Jllay be suspected of any law violation, si nce otherwise 
the viola\ol' cou ld escape before a Warrant cou ld be issued. 

It is interesting to know however tha t laws authori zing the 
issua nce of search warranLS, generally prescribe penalties for 
those who Jllake al'l'esLS and se izures in an unlawful manner. 

Conseq uently "ery seldom, in this country, is th e home, per­
son, or property of an innocent citizen mol es ted. 

Under our laws Rov ing Co mmissions are not granted to law 
en forcemen t officers. 

l'K£SII)ENT 
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AlIllwny lVayne Projects 

Several limes the QUART ERI.Y has carried news items of the 
<ln iviti es o f the Anthony \Vayne Memori al Comm ission and lhe 
cITons of citizens of Ohio, Indiana , and Mich iga n to have an 
Anthony \"'ayne Memorial Parkway built. 

The prospect fo r recogn ition by the state of Oh io of the 
Park\\"ay from Cincinnati to Toledo as an ofli cia ! state memorial 
to lhe famous general of lhe Indian wars ap peared brigh l aL th e 
lime this iss lie of the Q UARTERLY was pre pared. A joint rcso­
JUli on establ ishing the parkway memorial, having passed the 
Ohio House of Representatives II G to 0, was bdorc th e Senate 
for consideration. A companion bill establ ish ing th e Anthony 
\ Vayne Parkway A mhority to pla n and develop the memoria l 
aW.1ifed a vOle in th e H ouse a!'lcr receiving un animous approval 
o f both th e h ighway and the finance commitlees. 

Anion LO honor \ \laylle is timely because this year is the 
150 th an ni versary of his T rea ty of Greene Ville (Cree nvill e) 
and the 200th anni versary of his birth . The 95th Gencral 
Assem bl y two years ago appointed a join t hOllse-sena te COIll ­

llliu.ce on an Anthony \VaYll e memori al. Th is comminee recom­
mended a lwo-fold memorial project : ( I ) the Parkway to include 
the m ili tary routes of \\layne and his predecessors H armar and 
S1. Clair, and (2) a research progr<llll coverillg the Wayne 
period of the Ind ia n wars, condu cted through the Ohio Sla te 
A rchaeo logical and H istor ical Society. with u ltima te publica­
li on o f ten vol umes. Th is research program has been consistelllly 
advocated by th e general Anthony \-\layne Memor ial Com­
mission and by its various sta le comm iuees. 
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Development of th e Anthony Wa yne Parkway has been 
under way by local , state, and federa l agencies for nearly twenty 
years. Communi ties in most of the twenty western Ohio coun-

f 
TOLIOO. 

- G." ..... IMo~ .... -_. G." A.~I. , "'. , 
...• - c." J. ~""'" 

Rovn: OF A :-Tno)<y W"I")<[ 

PARKW"Y 

ties traversed by the Wayne 
rou te have made some effort 
to preserve their own fon sites 
and Other shrines. A few 
ha ve undenaken extension de· 
velopments . Since the fromier 
expeditions followed the wa ter 
courses, there are many miles 
of historic highway a long th e 
large rivers of western Ohio. 
The Miami and Eric canal 
\\'as built over the general 
route of the military exped i­
tions, with the rt:sult that the 
waters impounded fo r feeders 
remain as great recreational 
assets. These include Lake St. 
Ma rys, Lake Loramie, and the 
large slack water pools in th e 
Maumee ri"cr above Gra nd 
Rap ids and Independence 
dams. A simila r lake was 
created in th e Auglaize river 
abovc Defiance by the Toledo 
Edison power dam. Lucas 
county through its metropoli­
tan park authority has been 
a leader in developing ri ver­
side recreation areas, whi le the 

city o( Toledo provided an important section of highway in the 
Allthon y Wayne Tra il. 

The name Anthony \Vayn e Parkway has becn accepted in­
formally throughout western Ohio to cover th e entire system 
of hi storic, scenic, and rec reationa l d evelormenL~ connected 
with the military exped itions of th e J-Iarmar-St. Clair-Wayne 
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period and the War of 1812. The joint reso lution now passed 
by th e Ohio H ouse of Reprcsenta ti ves, if the Senate concurs , 
will give offi cial SlaniS to th e memori(ll and authori ze all state 
departments to assis t in its further dcvelopment. The purpose 
is to co-ord inate all the local (lnd state projects a lready under 
way and harmon ize th e plan and design of future improvements. 

Northwestern Ohio wil l ha" e a large share in th is dcve lop­
ment , with such important si tes as Fon j\'l iami, Fallen Timbers, 
Fort Meigs , and Fon Defiance. There is no thought of building 
super.highways where not justified by traflic, but rather the 
proper marking of presclll statc and COUIll )' roads connecting 
the twenty fan SilCS between Cincinnati and T oledo. T he Ind i­
ana legisla LU re at its last session authorized an Indiana Anthony 
Wayne T r(l ils Commi ssion, subsequently appointed by the 
Governor, to fix th e trai ls which make Fort Wayne an important 
pan of th e parkway system. It is a lso hoped that proper action 
by the sta te of Michigan wi ll prov ide fo r an extension of the 
parkway from Toledo LO Detroi t, where W(lyne forma ll y took 
over lhe British forts in 1796. 

The Anthony Wayne Essay Contest, a pan of th e ed ucational 
program in suppOrt o( the memorial proposa ls, has been men­
tioned in previous issues of the Q UA RTERLY. The Ohio State 
An:haeological and HistOrical Socie ty prepared materia ls, and 
the Ohio Department of Education cond ucted the com cst 
throughout the state. The winning essays were se lected from 
several thousand submiued ill fo rty-three cou nties. Glen Dash­
ner of Sl. .J oseph School, Maumee, was th e winner of the first 
pri ze in the junior division ; Miss Ka thleen Mierka of Roosc­
vel t H igh School, Dayton, in th e senior division. Bes ides th e 
cash awards, three gi rl and three boy winners were entertai ned 
in Colum bus, " isiti ng the General Assembly in session , th e 
Oh io State Muse ll m, an d the Oh io State University. They al so 
attended a lu ncheon wi lh Gov. Frank J. L.'I.usche as honored 
guest who presen ted the monetary pri zes to the COlllest win ners. 

T he ri ch heritage of historic lore of Western Ohio will be 
capi ta lized for the cultu ra l benefit of its own people and the 
Il<ltion by the completion of th is project. The commercial va lue 
of the Park way is evidem to all , but it will also provide an 
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object lesson ill lhe creal ion of memor ials th at are living a nd 
·useful. 

T lte GTcellvilie Celebration 

The sesquicentennial of the signi ng of the Treaty of Greene 
Ville will be held this sum mer in Greenvil le. The first cere­
moni es were he ld o n June 16, wi th the ligh ti ng o f the counci l 
fi re at th e Altar of Peace. 

The main celebration wi ll be held frOill Jul y 3 1 to August 3 
willl the participation o f federal and state officia ls, th e Army 
and Navy, the Ohio StaLe Guard, and many o ther ilnponam 
persall ages. The to\\"I1 will be especiall y decorated for the occa­
sion . R epreseilla live Guy D . Haw ley, of Greenvill e, is the 
Chairman of the Program Committee. Senators Burton and Taft 
and Ohio Congressmen met recentl y in \Vashington with mem­
bers of a committee on the Greenvill e celebration in ma king 
plans for the program. A feature o[ the Greenville celebration 
will be thc unve iling o f a large pa inting depi ct ing the signing 
of Lhe trea ty by H oward Chand ler Ch risty. The first appropria­
t ion bill passed by the preselll Genera l Assembly was for 
$20 ,000.00 , covering th e cost of this painti ng . 

Phi Alj)/Ill T heta , Naliollal H istory Fl"lllcTrlily 

011 i\1ay 1, Lhe Alpha Kappa chapter of Phi Alpha Theta was 
establ ished at th e Ulli" crsilY of Toledo. This is th e lhi n y-third 
cha p ter of the fratern ity, which is o pen (0 supe ri or co llege stu· 
dc1l1.s spccill li zing in history and to intcreHcd fllw lty members. 
T he fratern ity is a member of the Associati on of College Honor 
Socicties. Dr. H omer C. H ockett, Professor Emeriws o f I-l is· 
LOry at Ohio State U niverSi ty, was the installing officer. 

The fra terni ty was fou nded at lhe University o f Arkansas in 
192 1 by Dr. N . Andrew Cleven, an authority on Latin American 
history, now of the Uni versity of Pittsburgh . On Ju ne 2 of this 
year a test imonial dinner was give n to Dr. a nd l\hs. C leven by 
the Beta cha pter of Phi Alpha Theta (U niversit y of Pi mburgh), 
lhe Panamerican Club o f Pit ts bu rgh, and the Dql<1.runent of 
H i.~tory at the U n iverSity o f P it tsburgh. 
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Report of Committee on Research and Publications 
Anthony Wayne Sesquicentennial Committee 

I. STATEMENT O F THE H ISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

I N 1783 we achieved our national independence, with our 
nonhern and western boundaries fixed at the middle of the 
Great Lakes and the Mississippi Ri ver. This meant tha t Great 

Brilain, in making peace with her former colonies, conceded to 
them the vast wi lderness lying between the Alleghani cs and the 
Mississippi which she had wrested from France in 1763 and the 
northern portion of which (all lying north of the Ohio) she had 
added lO the province of Quebec in 1774. In short the colon ies 
now won from England the western country which in an earlier 
war with English help th ey had won from France. 

But nominal tit le and actual possession proved to be two very 
different thi ngs. The wes tern country was in fact occupied by 
numerous Indian tribes, most of which had been allies of Great 
Britain in the recent war. They had not been partics to the treaty 
of peace, and th ey recognized no right of Great Britain to trans­
fer their country to another withou t their consent. Consequently 
for them the state of war wi th the Americans continued. The 
British encouraged them in their attitude of resistance. fo r dif­
ferences a t once arose over the carrying out of the peace treaty, 
whose terms were in fact violated by both parties to iL The Cana­
d ian merchants, interested in the fur trade. felt that the transfer 
of the Northwest to the United States would be ruinous to them 
and clamored to prevent or delay it. The upshot was tha t along 
the Great Lakes from which she controlled the western country 
and which in the peace treaty she had agreed to evacuate " with 
all convenient speed," and the tr ibes. emboldened by her material 
and moral support. insisted that no American shou ld en ter the 
country northwest of the Ohio. 

During the R evolution the colonists had vainly endeavored to 
conquer this region and had gained what proved to be per­
manent control of its southern edge adjoin ing the Ohio border, 
with the old French towns of Vincennes and Kaskask ia as i ts 
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principal centers. The British had retained all of the Great Lakes 
an'd Upper Mississippi area, comprising perhaps nine-tenths of 
the entire country between the Ohio and the Lakes. 

The close of the Revolution left the colonies (now States) wide­
ly separated in space and sentiment, ravaged by eight years of 
warfare, and confronted by an accumulation of problems which 
the appallingly weak Confederation government Signally [ailed 
to solve. Although nominally a nation, we were in [act but an 
inchoate one, and the question whether we could establish an 
orderly and respectable government remained still in the balance. 
Matters progressed rapidly from bad to worse until it became 
clear that only an heroic effort exerted by the constructive ele­
ments of the country could save it from internal anarchy and 
foreign domination. The Convention of 1787 and the establish­
ment o[ the present national government with General \Vash­
ington as President was the magnificent response to this chal­
I~nge. 

The problems the new government faced were appalling, and 
i ts ability to endure had still to be demonstrated. One of the most 
pressing issues concerned the northwestern country. The close 
of the war had left thousands of soldiers unpaid and unem· 
played, uprooted from their homes or with their former liveli­
hoods vanished. A movement to colonize some of them in the 
Northwest was st~rted, and the expiring Confederation Congress 
had enacted the Ordinance of 1787, providing a legal and govern­
mental organization for the new colony, which was begun at 
Marietta the [allowing year. Efforts to arrive at a peacefu l under­
standing with the northwestern Indians res ul ted in the treaties 
of Fort McIntosh in 1785 and Fort I-Iarmar in 1789. In both, a 
minority faction of Indians, whose authority to bind the tribes 
was denied and spurned by the majority, agreed that the Ameri­
cans might have most of southern and eastern Ohio, while the 
Indians were to retai n the remainder of [he country. This ar­
rangement was practically identical with the one embodied in 
the later treaty of Greenville (1795), but since the northwestern 
Indians decl ined to recognize it and made war upon the settlers 
the Government was compelled to defend them, and thus at the 
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outset of his adm inistrat ion President vVashington fou nd an ex· 
ceedingly formidable Indian war on his hands, 

It lasted five years from 1790 until 1795, exactly the length 
of time consumed to present date by ' ,Vorld ' Var II . T wo armies 
sent against the red men failed to conquer them. T wo generals 
who had won fame in the Revolution now los t it in these un· 
successful campaigns, A th ird general, Anthony 'Vayne, was ap· 
pointed in 1792. As with America in 194 \ his first task was to 
create and equip an army fit to me~t the foe, and as in 1941 
practica ll y two years were consumed in this task . The camp he 
established at Greenville may be likened to our recent bases 
in England and North Africa, where preparations for the ac· 
tual invasion of Europe were completed. 

The summer of 1794 found Wayne in read iness to advance, 
Meanwhi le in Europe the French revolutionary wars had begun, 
and the British government, whil e still following an opportunis. 
tic policy was more disposed to settle its issues wi th America. 
Whi le Wayne was moving upon the wes tern Indians John Jay 
was haggli ng with the British ministry to preserve peace on the 
best terms possible to obtain , The resu lt of Washington's com· 
bined military and diplomatic measures was registered on the 
banks of the Maumee. Advancing northward during the summer 
weeks, Wayne built his grimly named Fort Defiance. Then, pre· 
pared to cope with Indian and British foes alike, he moved down 
the river and at Fallen Timbers quickly defeated the warriors 
and their white allies. When th ey fled back to near·by For t 
Miamis for refuge, the g\ltes remained closed against them. 
The demonstration of the uselessness of their further reli ance 
upon British support was complete. 

There followed the Treaty of Greenvi lle in 1795, by which 
the whites obtained the Indian title to southern and eastern 
Ohio, and the evacuation by the British of the northwestern 
posts the fo llowing year, From Fon Haldinand in the Thousand 
Islands to Fort Mackinac at the outl et of Lake Michigan the 
British soldiery moved out and the followers o( General Wayne 
moved in . The American flag and American ru le had come to 

the Great Lakes; the states, existen t or fu ture, of New York , 
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Pennsylvania, Ohio, Indiana, Michigan, Illinois, Wisconsin and 
Minnesota had been freed from alien occupancy and domination. 
With beautiful appropriateness the first American vessel on the 
Lakes was called 'the Detroit and was owned and operated by 
the U. S. Army. With like appropriateness the name of Wayne 
was given to a new county embracing practically all of present­
day Michigan along with extensive portions of Ohio and In­
diana and lesser ones of Illinois and \Visconsin. 

II. IMPORTANCE OF THE CONQUEST 

But for it the nation as we now know it wou ld never have 
developed. If the Old Northwest had not been won by Washing­
ton and Wayne, the western country south of the Ohio might 
well have be.en lost to Spain, with the result that there would 
have been no Louisiana Purchase by Jefferson in 1803 and no 
expansion of America westward to the Pacific. Passing such 
considerations as these, the quarter.million square miles of the 
Old Northwest plus the areas of western Pennsylvania and north­
ern New York which were won by the conquest is one of the 
richest regions of comparable extent on earth, embracing such 
cities as Rochester, Buffalo, Cleveland, Toledo, Detroit, I ndian­
apolis, Milwaukee, Chicago and St. Paul. From it comes most 
of the iron which today makes possible our participation in the 
World War, as well as much of the might in skill and men which 
puts it to use. From it have come 7 of the 13 Presidents of the 
United States elected since 1860. In it is excelled a general level 
of wealth, intelligence, and progress nowhere else on earth and 
equalled only rarely. 

III. RECORDS OF THE CONQUEST 

History is the community memory and written records are the 
means by which it is preserved and transmitted to succeeding 
generations. Bereft of memory the individual is a helpless, piti­
able object, and the community bereft of its history is no less 
pitiable. Unlike the memory of the individual, however, the 
records which comprise the community memory can be pre· 
served and made known only through organized, conscious effort. 
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T oday our State Department takes ample pains to preserve and 
eventually edit and publish the records of its activities. So, too, 
our Army and Navy not only fight baules and conduct campaigns, 
but th ey spend money and effort without limit to currently pre­
serve and subseq uen,tly study and publish the records of thei r 
operations. 

Far otherwise was it a century and a half ago. when apart 
from certa in officia l reports promptly buried in the govern­
mental archives, preservation and publication of these records 
were left to chance or to volunteer interest and em erprise. 
Moreover, as time passed ou r national archives were until very 
recently shamefully neglected, with the resul t tha t a large pro­
portion of the records they once contained were destroyed or 
lost. Meanwhi le the contemporary knowledge of the conquest 
perished wi th the generation which witnessed it, and sLicceed ing 
ones tended more and morc to fo rget or to be ignorant of the 
story. 

This is, of course .. a Slary common to all past generations. 
Although Ollr state and local historical societies and other agen­
cies commonl y devote more or less attention la the period in 
quest ion. no adequate account of it has ever been written nor 

ever COIl be unti l the task of seeking out , assembling, and com­
petently edi ting such documents of the period as still exist shall 
have been performed. 

This is ·obvioLisly the duty of some governmental agency, 
since private individ uals lack both the resources and the in­
centive to perform it. Many of the documents in question have 
been printed in such works as the A merican Slate Papers, the 
historical collections of the various State historical societi es and 
the historical periodicals of the country. Others, still in manu­
scrip t, must be sough t in the collections of the l Visconsin State 
'Historical Society at Madison. the Pennsy lvania H istorica l So­
ciety at Philadelphia, the Filson Club at Louisville, the Detroit 
Public Library, the governmental archives at Washi ngton, 
Ottawa, and London, and other depositories. A determined 
search will no doubt bring to ligh t many papers whose existence 
or whereabouts arc at present unknown to scholars and govern-
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mental agents. Illustrative of these various contingencies may 
be noted the fact that al though Mr. C. M. Bunon printed in 
the Michigan Pioneer Collections the Orderly Books of Gen­
eral Wayne, unknown to him were additional orderly books, 
still uncataloged and generally unknown, in the library of the 
Filson Club of Louisville; or the other fact that although it 
has long been common know ledge that the Pennsylvania His­
torical Society possessed a collection of Anthony Wayne Papers, 
the ex istence of thousands o[ additional 'Wayne manuscripts in 
private possession was wholly unknown to scholars unti l the 
[act was disclosed by Mr. Harry E. Vl ildes only a couple of 
years ago. In' the Detroit Public Library are many other records 
of the early United States Army, and only a systematic canvas 
will ever disclose how many or what additional ones are being 
preserved by other institutions or by private individuals. IlIus· 
trative of the latter poim, the papers of Colonel Hamtramck, 
Wayne's efficient lieutenant, are supposed still to be in private 
possession in West Virginia; wh ile a large ,body of manuscripts 
deal ing with the service of supply of the army in the years of 
the 1790's were found by a stamp collector quite by chance in 
an Indiana rural residence a few years since, and by him were 
transferred to the Detroit Public Library. 

There are two sides to every war, of course, and as yet we 
have taken little heed of the British and Canadian official and 
private records preserved at Ottawa, London, and elsewhere. A 
few years si nce the Ontario Historical Society issued the papers 
of Lt. Gov. J ohn G. Simcoe in five large volumes. The Detroi t 
River settlements were then the most populous part of Upper 
Canada and the papers of Governor Simcoe contain hundreds 
of documents dealing with the British side of the warfare which 
Wayne waged. Other British offtcials played their respective 
roles, and in many instances have left official or private papers 
beh ind wh ich are no less important to an understandi ng of the 
period than are those left by American participants in the con­
quest. This statemen t finds curren t illustration in the mono­
graph on Fort Miamis near Toledo, to wh ich the last issue of 
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the Northwest Ohio Quarterly [April , 1944} is devoted . The 
author of the article drew his in fo rmation fo r i t ch iefl y from 
Bri tish sources. 

IV. T ENTATIVE OUTLINE OF POSITIVE PROGRAM 

That the task in contemplation is a large one is clear: that 
onl y some organized agency such as the Federal or a State gov­
ernment possesses both the means and incentive to undertake it 
is equally clear; that its cost in terms of money will be insig­
nificant in comparison with the avai lable means and cuStomary 
scale of expendi ture of either the national government or tha t 
of a single prosperous Slale is no less obvious. Although no 
complete or binding es tima te can be presented at this stage of 
the discussion, a tentative approach to the problem can be made 
and its showing should prove useful to the Committee. 

The entire operation will embrace these aspects: 
I . The search for and copying of the pertinent records. 
2. The editorial task of organi zing and editing them for pub­

lication. 
3. The further editorial task of seeing them through the 

press and the COSt of printing them. 
Some questions whose answers are at this time unknown or 
awaiti ng authoritative determination are these: 

1. H ow ex tensive will the body of material demanding pub­
lication prove to be? 

2. What will be the cost of searching for it and copying it? 
3. H ow many volumes of size and q uality appropriate to such 

publications (say octavo volumes of 750 pages each) will 
be required? 

4. How large an edi tion should he printed, and how d is­
tributed? 

5. What will be the COSt of priming such volumes? 
6. 'Wha t editorial, secretarial, and office expenses will be re­

quired? 
T entative answers to these questions follow: 
I. The material already known to exist is extensive: how 
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much more deservi ng publication will be turned up can 
only be surmised. Quite probably the quantity found will 
exceed the reasonable bounds of publication. 

2. This will be condi tioned by No. I, and will be an organic 
part of the ge neral editorial task. Perhaps $2,000 annuall y 
will be a reasonable estimate to make. 

3. Known existing material in diverse and more or less dis· 
tant places wi ll undoubtedly require six or seven 750-page 
volumes to contain. [it] It may safely be assumed that addi­
tional material to be found will requ ire three or four re­
maining volumes. Publication of ten such volumes in all 
should be con templated. 

1. Size of the edition to be printed turns on the question of 
free distribution, whether to institutions or to individuals. 
Since this is to be a serious work of reference, expensive to 
produce, there should be no reck less waste of copies 
printed. All important referen ce libraries should be sup­
plied with sets, and 500 will answer for this purpose. If 
individuals are also to be suppli ed free, their number 
and identity (members of Congress, etc.) must be deter­
mined in advance. Enough sets should be printed to make 
them procurable by individuals at a nominal price (say 
$1.50 or ~2 per vol ume) . Since all important libraries are 
to be suppli ed, the number of individuals needing the 
work wi ll be correspondingly limited. Probably 500 sets 
will suffice (making a total edition of 1000) fo r th is pur­
pose. As many more than 1000 may be printed as policy 
demands and avai lable means permits. 

5. No info rmation has been accumulated on this point. Print­
ing estimates can readily be procured, but to do so definite 
specifications must fi rst be determi ned. A tentative and 
largely un informed guess would be that printing COSt may 
run to $5000 per volume. 

6. Here we may speak more definitely. A competent historian, 
trained in ed itorsh ip must be employed. Since the entire 
success of the enterprise will depend upon his skill and 

58 



R eport of Committee 

experience, the best available person should be employed. 
His professional attainments should be comparable to 
those of a full professor in our lead ing un iversities. A 
minimum salary of $5000 will be needed to secure such 
a person. 
He will requi re the help of a high-grade secretarial and 
office worker, and a second aide oE adequate ed ucation and 
tra ining will be needed. Their combined salaries may be 
tentatively set at $5000. 
Office ex penses are less defin itely determinable. Probably 
necessa ry physical quarters can be had gratis from some 
University or other public agency which may thus be 
will ing to contribute to the work. Postage and stationery. 
typewriters and other office equipmen t will have to be 
provided. A tentative estimate of $1000 annually is sug· 
gested. 

Final fac tor to be determined is the length of time the un­
dertak ing will require. Obviously this wi ll depend upon certai n 
factors as yet undetermined to which attention has already been 
called. A tentative estimate of five or six years will probably 
prove not far amiss. Since the edi tor in charge will be a man 
of professional tra in ing and ou tlook. whose scholarly reputation 
will depend upon his execution of the [ask, it may be taken for 
granted he will exert all the zeal and skill he possesses in prose­
cuting it to the earlies t practicable conclusion. 

T o summa rize: 

Annual $.11aries at $10,000 
Search and copying, ~ay S2,000 ann ually. 
O ffice expenses, say SI,OOO annually .. 

J years 

..... ... ....... $ 50.000 
[0,000 

Printiflg cos t. 10 \'ols. at S5,000 ... . ....... .. . 
5,000 

50»00 

6 years 

$ 60,000 
12,000 
6 ,000 

50,000 

$1 15,000 $128.000 

Annual COSt (but the printing will not he c\'enly distributed) on 
5·ycar ba5is S2~,000; 6 ' )'ur basis $2 1,111. 

It only remains to note that the estimates given are depend­
ent upon so many fac tors now unknown or undetermined that 
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in the actual outcome the costs incurred may depart materially 
from these advance estimates. If we assume for convenience a 
total cost of $150,000 we will probably be safely above the actual 
figure needed. Does the objective in view justify such an ex­
penditure? 

The answer involves the age old question what is worth while 
and reasonably necessary in life, and the answer, as always, de­
pends upon the liver. A Zulu chieftain of interior Africa may 
hold an audience before his hu t garbed in an old top hat and 
little else: Ki ng George of England or Presidem Roosevelt 
cannot. In the instant case we are dealing with about the richest 
portion of the richest nation on earth. Its people have abundant 
means, and spend them freely for whatever they deem worth 
whi le. A single city high school building may cost $2,000,000 
or more; a single mid-western State university may have an 
ann ual budget of eight or ten mi ll ion dollars. Highland Park, 
a city of 50,000, spends I Y2 millions annually on its publ ic 
schools; Detroit, a larger city, spends more than 30 millions. 
The State Highway Department of Michigan spends normally 
over $40,000,000 annually; the city of Detroit has made plans 
involving an expenditure of over $400,000,000 on post-war 
roadway and other civic improvements. 

These are random illustrations which happen to come to 
mind. Other and simi lar ones are known to every intelligent 
citizen . Coming to more closely comparable objects, the State 
of Illinois devoted $60,000 a quarter century ago to preparing 
its centennial history. The proprietor of the New York Times 
gave $500,000 twen ty years ago to subsid ize publication of the 
Dictionary of Ama ican Biography; recently the same news­
paper has provided $350,000 to promote the publication of tht> 
Jefferson Papers. T he Nation t".'eive years ago spent a large 
sum (figures not available) to celebrate the b icenten nial of 
Wash ington's bi rth. In 1940 it gave $400,000 to commemorate 
the Coronado expedition of 1540. Nation and states a decade 
and a half ago spent over I Y2 million on the George Rogers 
Clark Memorial a t Vincennes. Ohio spem $50,000 on an evanes-
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cent celebration of the battle of Piqua . The centennial celebra. 
tion of the battle of Lake Erie was marked by the expenditure 
of large sums of money by New York, Ohio, and other states. 

President WashingtOn in the years from 1791-95 put the in­
fant nation on its feet and set it firmly on the pathway to a 
pos ition of respect and importance in the world. Together with 
Anthony ' Vayne he conquered the Old Northwest for America 
and civilization. It proved a long and bitter struggle. The citizen 
of today who should soberly suggest that our so ldiers who are 
blascing a pathway to Berlin and Tokio (which many of them, 
alas, wi ll not live to see) are unworth y of honor and remem­
brance would be lucky to escape a coa t of (ar and feathers or a 
term of imprisonment for d isloyal ty to his country. Are the 
deeds of the men who a century and a half ago in the hour of 
our national weakness bared their breasts to Indian spear and 
tomahawk in (he then wilderness of Ohio and Indiana any less 
worthy of our grateful remembrance? And how shall we remem­
ber them if we continue to neglect to assemble the records 
through whose study alone we are able to know of their deeds? 
BrieRy stated, this is the simple issue. 

M. M. QUAIFE, Chairman 
LoUIs A. WARREN 

HARLOW LI NDLEY 

Committee on Research and Publication 
A nthony Wayne Memorial Association 
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Immigrant Groups in Northwestern Ohio to 1860 

MARY L. ZIEBOLD 

FROM the time of the arrival of the first white man on 
this continent, the so-called "foreigner" has always been 
a subject of interest. Every European nation contributed 

something in the custo ms of its people that has become a part 
of the American national heritage. Such events as the famine 
in Ireland, the Napoleonic Wars, and the Revolution of 1848 
caused many Irish and Germans to migrate to America . 

T hose that chose northwestern Ohio as their home had a diffi­
cul t problem to combat before the area was desirable. The dis­
comfiture of oppressive heat and bitter cold, however, were 
not entirely without their compensations, as the area became 
a most productive farming section.' In addition to temperature 
extremes, and even harder to baltle, where the unhea lthy con· 
ditions prevailing due to the Black Swamp region, comparable 
in size to the state of, Connecticllt.2 This brought on malarial 
fevers that seemed to play more havoc among the fore ign 
born population.3 Even as late as 1856, the Toledo Blade carried 
an advertisement (or "Griswold's Malarian Antidote, The Great 
Fever and Ague Medicine of the Age."· 

Most of the Germans who came to America, unlike those of 
some other nationalities, usually brough t their families with 
them." A prospective settler of this group ohen chose land with 
a rich forest growth . Industry and thrift plus the added help of 
large families enabled him soon to own a fair size tract of 
land that was CO remai n in the family for generations . It was 
not uncommon to build the barn, often a more pretentious 
structure than the house, first.e 

Perhaps the industry and thrift of this group of people can 
best be illustrated by the fact that those that settled Stallostown 
were able to buy their own farms after four years work on the 
canal. Formerly they had been members of a stock association.T 

Bremen, later incorporated as New Bremen, was an example 
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of a company formed to purchase a site for a town. After having 
purchased ten acres, at one dollar per acre, the town was di­
vided into lots, each member being entitled to one.3 

The principles of Jacksonian democracy appealed to many 
of these people.~ Catholics and Protestants alike, were to exert 
their influence here. There were so many of the former in the 
region by 1847 that the Pope established the diocese of Cleve­
land.10 

The stories of the development of the various parishes of the 
Catholic Church have striking similarities. The priest usually 
held his first mass in a private home. In earlier years, the Sun· 
days for services were often few and far apart, but as the popula­
tion increased, definite Sundays were agreed upon, and the 
community undertook the task of erecting a church. At first, 
these had mission status, but later became known as parishes. 
Often parochial schools were established at the same time.11 

By 1847, only five towns in the area had resident pastors, so 
conSidering the bad roads of the period, a priest had a difficu lt 
circuit to cover. As it was easier for one man to cover such 
distances, rather than provide transportation for larger groups, 
many congregations were establishedY 

Delphos, which is the corrupted Anglicized form of the word 
meaning Brother·Love, has a rather unusual history.13 Both 
the town of East and West Bredeick had been settled by Ger­
mans. They later uni ted with Section Ten and Howard Town, 
settled by English.speaking people, to form DelphosY Probably 
quinine was the item that made the settlement possible as that 
drug was used to combat malaria in this swamp countryY 

Father Bredeick had furnished the money to purchase Sec· 
tion Ten in the government sales at Upper Sandusky. To reach 
the site of the town in Allen County, the people had traveled 
through the Erie Canal and taken a lake vessel to Toledo. 
After ' traveling by packet to Defiance, it was necessary for 
them to walk for two days and sleep in straw stacks at night 
before reaching their destination. As this town became a col­
lection port during the canal period, people came directly from 
London, Berlin, and Paris to its docks. Likewise rails from 
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England were shipped here to be used on the Ohio and Indiana 
Railroad. This became part of the Pennsylvania system. 16 

Land speculators, too, tried their hand in this section of the 
Northwest T erritory. After the survey of the l\<li ami and Erie 
Canal was mad~, an eastern] ew plotted a site [or a city and 
placed lots on the market va lued at over thirty thousand 
dollars (S30,OOO). Changing of the proposed route, caused his 
plans to be another vision that never material izedY 

Some of the Germans had isolationist tendencies. They inter­
married among thei r own people and left so few records that 
little information is available. The case of Michael New­
schwander of Richland Townsh ip, All en County. shows the 
difficulties that arise in trying to trace names. In the list of 
land buyers in Township I Sou th, Range 8 East of Richland 
Township, the name of Michael Neiswander appears, as hav­
ing purchased land in Senion 34, in 1833.18 A map of Townsh ips 
I and 2 South, Range 8 East, bears the name of Michael Neuen­
schwander as holding two hundred and forty acres in Section 
34.'9 There is little doubt that these names refer to the same 
man, although the various accounts spell the name differently. 

Early days in the region faced by the Newschwanders were 
characteristic of those faced by many other families. They 
camped out for th ree weeks until a cabin was erected. To 
frighten away wolves at night, a fire was kindled. Fortunately 
the remaining Indians were friend ly.20 Flour for bread had to 
be purchased at Sandusky, which was reached by travel ing over 
a mere cowpalh. "Vhen a mill was established at Lima, people 
felt that progress was being made.21 

Some of the Germans who were members of various re­
li gious sects came in large enough numbers that it is impos­
sible to ignore them in a history of lhe area. Among these were 
the Mennonites. who usually conducted thei r services in Ger­
man. Preachers were selected by lot, the number vary ing from 
two to [our. Eventually the members formed four divisions of 
the fa ith, each havi ng on ly sl ight variations in practices and 
bel iefs.u The church forbade quarrels and law suits, so that we 
seldom fmd tne names of these people in legal records.2! 
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The Reformed Church also attracted a number of the Ger· 
man population. In 1850, this group helped to establish Heidel· 
berg College a t Tiffin. As so many people spoke in the fore ign 
tongue, a professorship in German was created at the school. l4 
At this time seven students started to a ttend c1asses. :~ \Vi thin 
four years the student body of this co-educational school had 
increased to two hundred and nventy-two members.2& 

Salaries of teachers were quite low. In Tiffin, a Miss E. Augs· 
purger was hired for the German school at the sum of twenty 
dollars per month. For this amount she was requi red to furn ish 
her own room.21 

One of the most active members of the Evangelical .Church 
was Jacob Altstettcr of Mon roe Township, All en County. Al­
though originally a cabinet-maker, he tr ied to make his living 
here by farming. In order to get his team work don e, he ex­
changed work with his neighbors as he was too poor to purchase 
a horse. Even as la te as 1816 at Delphos, his corn and oats 
brought on ly ten cents and six cents per bushel respectively. 
Later he entered the nursery business and was one of the fi rst 
to import fruit trees, hedges, and seed from Germany.28 

The Bucyrus Community became the home of both Lu­
therans and Methodists. In the earl ier days, services were con­
ducted in the German language. Dr. 'William Nast, the fi rst 
German Methodist minister here, could visi t the town only once 
in five weeks, as his circuit was so large.a 

The fact that the land was swam py did not keep these people 
from acquiring more of it. Purchases were made with cash 
secured by working on [he turnpike or the Miami Canal. Al­
though able on ly to clear three acres of a fo rty acre tract his 
first year, Jacob Shaffer walked sixlY miles to secure work on the 
canal that he might acqu ire more land. Another farmer, namely 
William KaIb, because of his inadequate equipment, had to 
harvest his crops with a butcher knife.1o 

Land purchased sight unseen sometimes proved to be dis­
appointing, It was not unusual for the tract to be under water, 
Some of these adventurers had very meager supplies on their 
arrival here, H enry Geiger and his wife, who walked from Stark 
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County, had an axe, fi fty pounds of Rour, and one dollar in 
cash as their only possessions.31 

It is al ways interesting to note prices of earlier days. The 
fo llowing were taken from receipt books of this period. 

"Seplo 3, 1835- Receivcd of John Kra ft 
"Six Wooden buckets at 62\.4¢ 
"Two Wooden buckets at 50¢ 

$ 3.75 
1. 00 

"T o be sold or returned &: paid for when sold $1 .75 
"Michael Ruhl." U 

The Germans at Tiffin , as was characteristic of their people 
elsewhere, organi zed a singing society known as " Der Bruder­
hUlId," in 1853, under the di rectorship of a Mr. Kunold , a 
German music teacher. Three years later it had grown so pro· 
fici en t that it joined the "North Amer ican Saellgel·buHd" and 
participated in musical festiva ls in such ci ti es as Cincinnati and 
Detroit. "T iffini tes" also formed the " Die Deutsche T heater­
gesellsha/t" to give amateur stage productions.1S 

Sometimes some of the citizens found it difficul t to abandon 
various customs of the mother country. Such was the case of 
the father of William Lang, a prominent lawyer in Seneca 
County. The father had been an officer in .the forestry depa rt­
ment of the King and always retained tha t dress, which was of 
dark green broadcloth with a hat to match.3t 

The Democratic party realized that these ci tizens could be 
a strong factor in an election . In Seneca County alone, there 
were possibly eight hundred Gennan Democratic voters. Con­
sequentl y, to furnish them poli tica l information, a German 
newspaper began publication.3 ' 

Newspapers were not lax in their efforts to expose attempts 
of political pa rties to secure the immigrant vote. For instance, 
in Wood County, in 1854, the Clerk of the Common Pleas 
Court opened the natu ral ization office and issued papers to 

nearly one hundred applicants, although the court was ad­
journed. As the granting of naturalization papers was an act 
of the coun that cou ld not be delegated and it had not taken 
such action anyway, the newspapers declared these papers to 
be void." 
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James B. Steedman, a convention delegate from Lucas County, 
employed other methods to get votes for h is uncle. who was a 
Senatorial candidate on the Democratic ticket for the State 
Legislature in 1854. Three wagons were sent to tra nsport 
"Dutch," I rish, and Swiss immigrants, at work on a state project, 
to the convention si te wh.ere Steedman himself declared them 
to be true Democrats and Delegates for Wood County. In 
reality. only one of them could speak English, and most of them 
did not have papers or even li ve in "Vood CountyY 

Although the Germans comprised the largest immigrant 
group, a true story of the region brings in a vivid accou nt of 
the Irish. Not all of them were adherents of the Catholic faith , 
and we find tha t a Mr. , Vilson was a circuit preacher for the 
Methodist Episcopal Church as early as 1834.lI 

Any histOry of the canal building program in Ohio is closely 
allied with the Irish. For the first four months of employment, 
each worker was to get a "jiggerful" of whiskey as part of his 
compensa tion.s~ This probably did not help these individua ls 
in combating the dreaded fever. The morta li ty rate was very 
high among the families of the employees of one contractor, 
who operated a liquor store. In con trast to this, another con­
tractor lodged his men in the upper room of a large frame 
house, where they had straw beds. Whether his orders of "early 
to bed" and " total abstinence" were repsonsible or nOt, few of 
h is men suffered from the dis..ease.4o 

Although the usual tendency of the I rish was to congregate 
in cities, some became farmers or proprietors of businesses in 
small towns. Agriculture, of course, promoted such industries 
as sawing and flour mills. These were operated by power ob­
tained by the flow of water through the locks. Prices for freight 
in early years were quite low, as the rale was only eight cents 
a bushel for corn carried a medium distance and rhat of wheat 
sli ghtly higher. Packet boats charged three cents per mile, while 
the freighters charged two and one-half cents.n 

Conditions in the area delayed settlement. In 1838, a long 
drou th increased the number of cases of the dreaded " Maumee 
fever." lVi ld anima ls approached the towns, while frogs were 
reported to have migrated from the dry bed of Swan Creek 
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through the Toledo streets to the Maumee river.n However, 
once in the territory it was difficult to leave. The Black Swamp 
Road was renowned for its wretched condi tion . Six horses were 
scarcely able to draw a two·wheeled vehicle fifteen miles in three 
days. Congress had made grants of land for the road, but labor 
was lacking to improve it.n 

Perhaps the following will best show conditions in Toledo, the 
largest city in Northwestern Ohio as late as 1850: 

n ••• Toledo is bu ilt upon the junct ion of the j\'fi ami and Mad 
River Canal with Lake Erie. T his ql.llal gathers an immense country 
of agricultural produce in its winding journeys and junctions [rom 
the interior of Indiana down to the lake. Good farms may be had 
in this region, at twenty·five dollars an acre. Toledo is not a very 
healthy place. Fevers and ague preva il; and even the most careful 
of the inhabitants cannot avoid these maladies. Thc population is 
about five thousand. Many good Irishmen arc thriving here in 
business; the canal packe t arrives every day in time for the steam 
boats . ... "H 

The story of the immigrant in northwestern Ohio is not 
complc tc without mClllioning scveral smaller groups that were 
of importance in their local areas. Among thcsc are the Welsh. 
the French, the English, and the Scotch. 

Gomer, a Welsh settlement in Allen County. was eighty 
miles from a markct. Its inhabi tants preserved somc of their 
customs such as occasionally hearing a sermon delivered in the 
'Velsh tongue and having their chi'ld ren study the Welsh nibl c.n 

Lovc of music led the Welsh in the Calvanistic Congregational 
Church in Cambria to have an organ, al though they had on ly 
a log church in which to house it. A brown earthen jug, two 
tin cups, and two queensware plates were used for COll1rnunion.·o 

The SCOts, too, some of whom settled in Wood County, re­
tained many of thcir customs. One of these was the marriage 
ceremony. The service was performed in the bride's homc, after 
which it was customary for the couple to walk to their new 
abode. In one instance, th is provcd to be a distance of twelve 
miles. Following the ccremony drinking and dancing usually 
prevailed unti l the following morning. 
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Bad weather causing icy paths forced hardships upon these 
sturdy people. Potatoes consti tuted the sole article of d iet dur­
ing one winter, when they were unable to reach the milL An­
other time corn meal ground from frost-bitten corn warded off 
hunger, until a member of the communi ty purchased a hand 
mill.'T 

The strain of a frontier community was too much for many 
of the Scots and a large n umber of them soon passed away. 
Primitive coffins, made by spl itting slabs of newly felled trees, 
were used for burial. Many of this nationality were members 
of the Presbyterian Church." 

There were many English scattered throughout this part 
of the state; Marion County, particularly, had a number {Tom 
the United Kingdom.'~ Possibly an outstanding event to these 
peop le of nonhwestern Ohio was the trip of Charles Dickens in 
1842. En route he stopped for a night at the log cabin inn at 
Upper Sandusky.~Q 

The French of the territory were often descendants of hunters 
and trappers who came from Canada.u When Napoleon was 
incorporated some trouble ensued over the name, possibly be­
cause of the large number of Germa ns there. Demonstrations 
occurred, when the French opposed the name of Henry. Finally, 
when another peti tion for incorporating was presented, the 
name of Napoleon was retai ned .~2 

Although the immigrants of northwestern Ohio contributed 
much to our cultural development, probably their descendants 
are morc grateful to them for making a swampy, unhealthy, 
forest area a region in which it is fit to live. The fact that the 
area has become a leading farming section closely un ited by 
cana ls, in the earlier days, and later by railroads and highways, 
proves that the immigrants have contributed their share to the 
progress of American civili zation. 
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Edited by his grandson, FRAI"CIS PH ELPS \VEISEN BURGER, Asso-
ciate Professor of History, The Ohio State University 

I WAS born on the 30th day of December. A.D. 1815, in lhe 
Village of Old DcKalb, so-called now, as there is an East 
DeKalb and DeKalb Junclion, besides DcKalb post-office 

proper. 
My father, the last time I was with him at Old DeKalb, 

showed me the exact spot, which is JUSt a hole in the ground 
where the cellar caved in afler the remova l of the Slone wall. 
as he informed me that the hOlLse was burned after he left it 
and never rebuilt, and the cellar wall removed. 

The hOllse was two story, about 16 x 24 feet, and the lower 
story divided into two rooms, the back part used for a kitchen 
and living room, and lhe from room for a shoe shop; as my 
father was a shoemaker and my mother a tailoress, they used 
the front room together. 

I was the third son. The first one, Dorvill, died when about 
two years old, and the second one when only one da y old and 
the next slicceeding one were all girls, five in number; Mary 
Snow Phelps, bol'll November 24, 1817; Fidelia Phelps, De­
cember 29, 1819; Harriet Richardson Phelps, February 7, 1822; 
Dorothy Phelps May 14, 1824, and Betsey Bigelow. J anuary 
I , 1826. 

My grandfather on my fath er's side was Abishi Phelps, who 
lived with fa ther and died a t our house in February 18 17, and 
my grandmother also lived at our house and died there. 

Soon after my birth , my father and his brother, Samuel 
' ·Vright Phel ps, Senior, purchased 100 acres of land on what 
has since been known as Gimlet Street from its crookedness, 
having to wi nd around ledges of rock and across black-ash 
swails, although it has been considerably straightened in later 
years. 

This was near Rich's Settlement, then called, but afterwards 
Ricbville, St. Lawrence County, New York. 
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My father built a small log house on his share and a log 
shop about 12 x 14 in size, which he occupied with his father, 
who was a tailor. 

My earliest recollections are when Grand[ather died and was 
laid out in that shop upon the table he used for cutting gar­
ments. 

This seems incredible as I was only about 14 months old, 
but as nothing like it occurred later I am sure that [ cannot 
be mistaken as I distincliy remember their tak ing the coffin 
away on a sled and remember crying because they would not 
take me along. 

I think we lived for four or five years at this place when my 
father sold the whole or a part of his land to his brother-in-law 
Amos Stoddard who had married his sister Theodora. He may 
have sold only a part and bought some of Uncle Samuel. I know 
after the sa le he had abou t 30 acres of land. 

On his new purchase he built a plank house, I th ink about 
16 x 20 or 24. The plank instead of being placed uprigh t were 
hori zontal and dove-tailed at the corners. It was divided into a 
kitchen or living room and tWO bed-rooms. In this we lived 
about two years when he bui lt a two sLOry front about the same 
size and divided in abOLit the same man~er, which' served to 
accommodate us after we became a family of eleven persons. 

This house was built close to a ledge o( lime rock and 
enough stone were taken out of the cellar to wall it up and 
make the foundation. 

I th ink that he must have moved his log shop, as I have no 
recoll ection of it standing near Uncle Stoddard's after we 
moved , and the shop was about the same size. The heating of 
this shop was original, at least I have never seen anything like 
it before or since. I t was a potash kettle about 3 or 3!4 feet 
in diameter, turned bottom up on a foundation about a foot 
high. The keule was one which had given Ollt at the bottom 
and father had en larged the hole and built a chimney from that 
up through the roof. 

This shop father used for several years and did a good busi­
ness, but when it was slack the woods were handy and he used 
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to take the axe and cut down the trees around us, but the 
most of the clearing he hired done, the chopping especiall y. 
Although I was a small boy I did a co~s i dera ble portion of the 
burning which was fun for me then and I have always liked it. 

The thinness of the walls of our house made it cold, but wood 
was plenty and the fireplace piled full , and the marc burnt the 
more land was cleared. 

The two story part of our house was a frame with twO inch 
plank pinned on with wooden pins and it was plastered inside 
and alit and on the outside while the mortar was soft small 
pebbles and gravel were imbedded in the mortar. ... 

T he year after I was born was the year without a Sli mmer, 
when there was frost every month in the year and all that they 
raised of anything was potatoes. I have heard my father say that 
but fo r the cows they could nOt have lived; roast potatoes and 
milk was the best food they had. The potaLOes were a poor 
crop, only in favorable locali ties did they mature. In the val­
leys in close proxi mity to the limestone ridges they did very 
well and were not much affected by frost. 

In 1818, about the last of Ju ly I should think , my father and 
mother and Aunt Sophia, afterward the wife of John Cheney 
R ich, went in a lumber wagon back to Massachusetts. l'v(y sister 
Mary, was a baby some six months old and I was about 2 ~ years 
old. I have a d istinct recollection of 3 circumstances '\"hich oc­
curred during tha t trip. The fi rst was a tree across the road in 
such a positio n that we could not go around it and father 
had to go to a farm house some dista nce from the road to obtain 
an axe with which to clear the obstruction and left us sitting 
in the wagon and I remember crying for fear he would not 
return and that a small boy came with him to take the axe back. 
Another occurrence was going out with a couple of boys to get 
grapes and there climbing up and picking them and having me 
hold my apron LO ca tch them and thei r laugh ing to see them 
jerk the apron out of my hands and the grapes fall on the 
ground. Another was a gentleman giving me a large pear, the 
only one I saw unti l I was about 17 year old. I commenced 
goIng to school the summer after J was three years old and had 
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to go about a mile and a part of the way was through a sugar 
camp or bush as they called it then. 

Father's brother and his three sisters se ttled along in a row, as 
it were. H is sister Sophia, Uncle J ohn Cheney Rich's wife, set~led 
in the village, Uncle Stoddard nearly a mile from there, father 
next, Uncle Samuel Phel ps next and Uncle Keyes next, he mar­
r ied Aunt Ab igai l. The last four were all adjoining and the 
children wen t to the same school I did. 

Alfred Phelps, Wright Phelps and Lorinda Phelps were older 
tha n I, as was Luther Keyes. J os iah Keyes and Betsy Keyes 
and Wm. B. Phelps and Everett Keyes were about my age. They 
all lived beyond me and went to the same school and Leander 
Stoddard and Eliza Ann Stoddard li ved nearer and we eleven 
genera lly went to school together and fo rmed a goodly portion 
of the scholars attendi ng the schoo l. I remember in the summer 
carry ing a gourd full of thickened milk, of which I was very 
fond, for my d inner. 

In the winter the larger boys frequently drew liS smaller 
ones to school on the ir hand sleds. 

vVe lived at that place on Gimlet Stree t about eight years, or 
until I was about 13 years old , and in the meantime the old log 
school house was abandoned and a stone one built which was 
about a half mi le (unhcr to go, and after I was eight years old 
I only went to school in the winter. As I was the oldest in the 
fami ly I had to help my mOlher take care of the other ch ildren 
and in other ways about the house and do all the outdoor 
chores, as fath er worked constantly at his trade and my mother 
d id a good dea l o[ tailoring. 

My fa ther kept a horse, two cows and some sheep, enough to 
furnish the wool for all the cloth to makc our own clothing, 
as I never had a sui t of any other clothes but homesp un until I 
came to Ohio. 

A portion of the time my fa ther kept bees and the honey 
brought money, the most of which he disposed of at "genera! 
muster" which was held at Gouverneur, which we took out in 
two large wash tubs, together with a supply of home made 
gengerbread and that was the only time I had any money. I 
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helped fa ther peddle it and he generally gave me a quarter of 
a dollar to spend, which was about all I would have to spend for 
a year. 

During this time while we had the horse I used to take the 
chi ldren to school in a sleigh in the winter. The school house 
was also used as a church and there was a shed under which 
I could keep the horse quite comfortable. We all took our din­
ners, of course. 

My youngest sister, BeLSey, was bom January 1, 1826. and 
my mo ther was so smart that she up and dressed and ate break­
fast with us and on the morning of the 7th she was a corpse. 

She left six ch ild ren. oC whom I was the oldest .... This was 
a severe blow upo n my father and in fact upon all of us chil­
dren. but we d id not realize it then. Miss J erusha Bozworth 
was at work fo r us when mother died and was then engaged to 
be married to my cousin Alfred Phel ps. My father hired a 
woman to nurse my sister Betsey, she having just los t a baby, 
and I shall never forget how bad she felt when she gave my 
sister up. One little circumstance I well remember. This woman 
had sandy ha ir and so had my sister Betsey and a great many 
thought she nursed it from her, but although my mother had 
very black hair some of the Snows had sandy hair. 

It was a sorry time for all of us at home and as hard for me 
as anyone except father. He was poor and had to work hard and 
h is expenses very much increased. 

On the - day of May, A.D. 1826, my fa ther married aga in to 
a widow, Rebecca Slo55on, who had buried th re~ husbands and 
had three ch ildren. the oldest about 3 years older than I was. 
Almi ra Farr, Louisa Maria Smith about a year older and 
Stephen Slo55on abou t two or three years younger than I was. 

Many of father's friends blamed him fo r being as they thought 
rather hasty in marriage so soon, but I did not then , and having 
passed through similar expericnce, do not now, but think it 
would have been bctter if he had married some one with less 
children. 

Miss Bozworth had put off her marriage for father's accomo· 
dation.Father had but little acquaintance with the woman he 
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married but was well acquainted with her brother, Asa Sprague, 
who was once one of the best men in that part of the country 
and his sister had a good reputation. But it was an unfortunate 
match fo r him as it afterwards proved, but probably a good 
one for me, as she, by her abuse of my sisters , virtually drove me 
from home or I migh t never have come "Vest. 

It was a hard matter to leave my father and sisters and go so 
fa r from home, but I was somewhat broken down in health with 
hard work, as I had worked very hard the winter before, of 
which I will write later. I had been going to school about 3 
mon ths in the summer and about the same time in the wiOler 
up to the time of my father's marriage and was a good scholar of 
my age, but after that I on ly went winters. Soon aher father's 
marriage my sister Mary went to live wi th my step-mather's 
sister Mrs. Elijah Farr about 8 or 10 miles from home. I recollect 
it well. She rode beh ind me on the old mare and all her clothes 
tied up in a sma ll bundle which I carried before me on the horse. 
It was a sad parting when I lift her there. 

Father's hard work at the shoe-maker's bench affected his 
health and he had to give it up in a measure and he built a 
small store buildi ng on the road near our house and tried sell­
ing goods on a sma ll scale, but I don't think he made much at it. 

He and I managed to work his farm with hiring a little plow­
ing done and some work in haying, a good dea l of the work was 
done Wilh one horse, such as plowing corn and potatoes and 
hauling hay and wood. From our sheep we made our clothes 
and got our stocking yarn. The yarn was all spun at home but 
the weaving we hired done. Linsey woolsey for the females and 
fu lled cloth for the males. In hoeing corn and potatoes my 
uncle's three boys and mysel f would take tasks and when done 
would play ball , which was about the extent of our recreation 
in summer. In the winter season we sometimes had a natura l 
toboggan slide. There was quite a high hill on my fa ther's farm 
with a fence close to the foot of the hill and towards spring the 
snow would get drifted in higher than the fence and beyond lay 
(he meadow, and the snow freezing and thawing became so hard 
that we could r ide over the top of the fence and across the 
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meadow and from the top of the hill across the meadow was 100 
rods or more. We frequently enjoyed it moonlight nights and 
somelimes the old folks would enjoy it with the youngsters if 
they would draw back the sled, and as the hill was some 20 rods 
in extent there 3 or 4 families could enjoy it at once. When the 
surface was especially favorable this was quite a rare treat when 
not too cold. 

After my step·mother came, the whole family arrangement was 
changed. Father, step·mother, Almira Farr, Louisa M. Smith 
and Stephen Slosson ate at the first table and myself and the 
other children ate at the second table and took what was left 
or bread and milk or milk porridge. When the milk was scarce 
the porridge was made about % water and Ys milk, thickened 
with corn meal to about the consistency of ordinary gruel, and 
we crummed in crusts of bread, or, if they were scarce, a Johnny 
cake made of corn mea l and water and salt and baked very thin 
was used as a substitu te. 

T he winter I was thirteen I went to school 3 months and that 
was the last I went to school until the winter I was seventeen. I 
studied surveying 3 months under the mition of Dr. Morton, 
who was an excellent teacher. 

In the fall of 1827 or 1828 my father moved his little store 
down to the village and went down there and tended it day 
time and I was there some of the time, and best recollection is 
that there was a small library kept there of about 50 books, and 
father was librarian and I read every book. Some were novels 
and some religious books, among which I recollect Bunyan's 
Pilgrim's Progress, Baxter's Saints Rest, Milton Works Paradise 
Lost and Paradise Regained, I think the Scottish Chiefs, Thad· 
deus of 'Varsaw and Jane Eyre, I am not so sure about Jane 
Eyre-Life of Mary Queen of Scots and Children of the Abbey. 

I was not at the store much until the winter of 1828 and 1829 
when father kept a small eating establishment as there was 
considerable ship timbering done and the teamsters used to stop 
and get something in the middle of the day. Pies and ginger 
bread were the principal, although bread and cold pork were 
among the eatables kept. 
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About the first money I ever earned was that winter figuring 
the contents of ship timber, some of which were difficult as they 
were in shape of a truncated pyramid,_larger at the butt and 
smaller at the top. There were but few who could figure the 
contents correctly and my father gOt quite a little sum for my 
services that winter. 

In the spring of 1829 I was taken with the mumps and when 
the snow was goingdf it was very slushy and going down to the 
store I got my feet wet and came very near dying and the final 
result was that I became entirely deaf in my left ear, which 
has been an annoyance to me all my life and as I grow older and 
the hearing of the other ear is not so acute the annoyance is 
much greater. 

During the summer of 1829 father bought about 6 acres of 
land, having sold his farm to a man from Massachusetts by the 
name of Childs. The land adjoined the old cemetery across the 
creek from Richville and he built him a low 1 V2 story house 
and also an ash cry just below the grist mill, and we moved into 
our house late in the fall and I was in the little store most of 
the ti me and engaged in figuring the cof,'-tents of sh ip timber 
hauled to the Oswegatchie River about a mile from Richville. 
The timber consisted of white oak and rock elm, some of the elm 
growing very large in the limestone ridges. The snow was gen­
erally pretty deep and I recollect that as high as ten yoke of 
oxen were taken to haul a stick out of the woods on to the 
travelled road, when 5 or 6 yoke would take it down the river. 

I recollect one elm stick was hauled past the store which 
was over two foot square at the butt and the cubic contents over 
300 feet which was said to be the largest ever hauled to the 
OSkegatchie River. 

After we moved to the Village I farmed the 6 acres owned by 
my father in the summer and chopped wood at the ashery and 
measured ashes when they were hurried and did odd jobs for 
the neighbors, and did a great deal of work about the house as 
all the girls went to school. Monday was washday and I had to do 
the brunt of the washing. My oldest sister went to live with 
Elijah Fan and the next oldest worked out most of the time. 
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Although she was nei ther old enough nor strong enough to do 
a woman's work but it was fash ionable then to have from G LO 
IO ch ildren and she could lake care of them. 

Louisa Maria Smith went to school until I left home. 
Father bought his wood sled length and I chopped it, split 

and pi led it in the wood house, and one th ing my father always 
ins isted on my doing was when I came in the house to bring an 
annfu l of wood if the wood box was not al ready full , and ] have 
frequently been sent back when I came in empty handed and 
the habit clings to me to this day. We kept two cows and I 
always had LO take care of them, milk them and churn when 
they gave milk and they seldom went dry over a month in a year. 
I n the summer season ] worked a grea t deal fo r uncle Cheney 
R ich (William B. Rich's fathe r) and I was in special demand 
during hayi ng, wh ich generall y las ted about three months and 
there were no mowing machines nor horse rakes,-all was 
mown with the scythe and had to be spread and raked by hand. 
I was a good hand in the hayfield , the only drawback was that 
ivy poisoned me dreadfully and I would sometimes get poisoned 
so bad ly that I would be unable LO work for three or fom weeks. 
But for all the work I did I never recoll ect of ever seeing one 
cent of money for my earnings nor did I have an y money to 
spend. I think Sl per year would cover all my personal expenses 
from the time I was 10 until I was 17 years old. I had some good 
times. I lIsed to go and visit my sister ~'fary at Elijah Farr's about 
once a year and then I would go up on the road from Old 
DeKa lb to East DeKalb and play with the Pooler and Spaulding 
boys, who were nephews of my step-mother. 

My step-siSler, Almira Farr, married John \Y. Moore, of 
Canton , S1. L"lwrence County, N.Y. and they lived at Canton 
some ti me and I visited them once and there first became ac­
quainted with Mary ' ""oodward, who was a£terwards my first 
wife. T hey afterwards moved to Russell and kept a hotel there 
and I used to go from Richville th rough T eal's Settlemen t (now 
Kent's Corners) and sometimes through Hermon and some times 
through Marshville_ It was then an almost unbroken wilderness 
but r went there several times alone. My fi rst wife was then 

80 



Memoirs of Edwin Phelps 

living with John W . Moore who was her uncle, and as I spent 
several weeks there at different times I became quite well ac· 
quaillled wi th her. I also became acquainted [with1 Mrs. Lyman 
Langdon, who was about 19 and leaching school there, and there 
I also became acquainted with Charles Volney Royce, a nephew 
of John \V. Moore, who followed me to Defiance and with whom 
I spent many happy homs. 

In tbe winter of 1832 and 1833 when I was 17 years old Dr. 
Monon taugh t th e school at Richvi lle and father thought I was 
too small and slender to do much hard work requiring physica l 
strength and that I ought to study surveying and I studied that 
3 months and surveyed a little after I came to Defiance. but after. 
wards a good opportunity offered to study law and I embraced it 
and became a lawyer. The summer of 1833 I worked our little 
farm and helped father in the ashery, which was pretty hard 
work but I stood it very well and I think I made father as good 
a hand as he could have hired. The ashery was aboU[ 40 rods 
(rom tb e house and about the same from the corn and potatoes 
and I recollect that I did th e work in the ashery and hoed the 
corn and potatoes at odd spells when I cou ld leave the ashery. 
A great deal of work at the ashery was measuring the ashes as 
th ey came in being brought by those who were clearing up 
their farms , and after I got the fires st.ar ted in the morning I 
could have a while before the ashes began to come in. Father 
ran his little store d uring the day and would go to the ashery 
after supper and run it until 10 or 11 o'clock and build a good 
fire and leave. In the morning I would get up early and go down 
and get the fires started and the wa ter on the leaches before 
breakfast. After breakfast I would milk the two cows and then go 
to the ashery, where I would find father and take my instruct ions 
for the day. The ashery was between the house and store, al· 
though a liule off of a direct line. and father always went there 
on the way to the store. 

After supper J had to milk the two cows and th en went to bed 
a tired boy. This was the routine during the summer of 1833 
until cold wea ther se t in and then the ashery had to be run 
night and day to keep from freezing up and I commenced work 

81 



Memoirs of Edwin Phelps 

at one o'clock and worked until supper time and father went to 

the ashery after supper and worked until midnight and called 
me. On my 18th birthday he told me that .his fath er gave him 
his time when he was 18 years old and he would give me mine and 
h ire me for 3 months. He did nOt give me a dollar in money. 
My birthday was Dec. 30th and I made arrangements to attend 
a ball on New Years . I did nOt ask him for any money but 
borrowed .$3 to pay the expenses of the ball so that I commenced 
running in debt soon after I commenced doing bus iness and kept 
it up pretty well since, until I returned from Granvill e on the 
1st day of April, 1886, since which time I have paid as I went, 
wh ich is the best way. 

I don't recollect what pay I got per day of 18 hours and 
Saturdays we always metter off as it was called and it took us 
unti l 10 o'clock and someLimes unti l midnight and I recol!ect 
that I got so tired Saturday nights that I had to sit down and 
rest in going to the house. I anended the ball on New Year's of 
1834 and as I was one of the managers it was my duty [Q see that 
all the girls were there. 'V. A. Brown was another ma nager and 
I had five girls and he had three and we had to dance pretty 
lively to keep our numerous partners in good humor. The ba ll 
commenced at two o'clock in the afternoon and closed at 9 
o'clock the next morning and I was pretty sore the next day but 
commenced my work in the ashery all the same after I had my 
gi rls all disposed of. The sleighing was excellent that winter and 
there were a great many balls, parties and spelling schools, and 
of course I had to attend and many a night I came home and 
changed my clothes and went into the ashery without going to 
bed at all and I wonder I did not break down before the firs t 
of April when my time was out and it was not necessary to run 
the ashery night and day. On the 1st of April or at the expiration 
of my three months I hired out to John Lake to work on a 
(arm and the season was so bad that he kept me most of the 
time chopping firewood and I got a pain in my breast so that I 
could not do much hard work but worked for Uncle Cheney 
Rich about the hotel waiting on travellers and about that time 
Uncle Stoddard took a notion to go west as far as Mich igan City, 
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Indiana. A man by the name of T ea l owed him some money and 
he learned tha t he was in Michigan City making money and he 
had the wes tern fever and thought he could make h is expenses 
out of Teal and I thought I would go with him. I had no clothes 
to take such a trip and I h ired Ju li a Holt to come to fa ther's and 
make a coa l and vest, a pair of pants and 6 sh irts . 

The coal was homemade black cloth and vest of the same and 
the pants were corduroy. The shirts were common cOtton shi rts 
and not a particle of linen about them. I had received several 
letters from an uncle o( mi ne, brother of my mother, Mark 
Snow, to come to him in Auburn, Miss., and I though t I could 
go wi th Uncle Stoddard as far as he went and then work my way 
down the Wabash and Ohio and Mississippi Rivers to Vicksburg. 
I had no more idea of the 'Vestern country than I now have of 
the unexplored regions oE the Hudson Bay country. I had never 
been out of St. Lawrence County except when a small boy once 
1 crossed the Sl. Lawrence from Ogdensburg to Prescott.2 

I had been to Ogdensburg, Canton and Russell and once 
c.arried the mai l from Russe ll through Edwards to Govern eur 
and once tended stOre a mon th or so for ' Vol . E. Sterling in 
Governeur, bu t thought I could make my way in the world. I 
could not b~a r to be about home and see my sisters abused by 
my step·mother without resenting it and that made trouble. 

Harlow Goddard , the principal man at Ri chville, had a 
brother Lewis in Detroit and another brother Abel Goddard in 
Ypsilanti, Michigan ., and I got a recommendation from H arlow 
Goddard to his brother Lewis and I was acquainted with his 
brother Abel as he had lived in Richvill e and kept company with 
and I think promised to marry my COllsin Lorinda Phelps and 
I made up my mind I would go with Uncle Stoddard as far as 
Detroit and get work there at someth ing. After I had my clothes 
made and paid for I had on ly $6 or $7 left. I told Uncle 
Stoddard the state of my finances but he did not want to go entire. 
ly alone and said he would furnish me with money enough to get 
to Detroit and I could repay it when I earned it. My £ather did 
not like to have me go but thought I would get homesick and 
come back as soon as I earned money and that six months would 
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fi nd me home agai n. We left R ichville on the 18th day of June 
1834, and fa ther went with us to Ogdensburg, where we took the 
side-wheel steamer "Coburg," a new Canada boat, it be ing about 
her first trip. I was his only son and he told me many times after· 
ward that he never expected to see me aga in and I fell as 
though I was lau nching out into the Unknown with some cum­
punctions of conscience at leaving father alone as it were, but 
thanks to a kind Providence I was permi tted to visit h im a great 
many times afterwards and stood by hi s bedside more than 33 
years afterwards and heard his last words. After his eyes were 
darkened with the fi lm of Death , he sa id, ''It is all dark below 
hut bright above." May my last days be as peaceful as hi s! 

On the steamer there were three classes of passengers,-the 
first and second and steerage. In the first class they had state­
rooms and the officers of the boa t ate with them and th ey had 
waiters. The second class had berths off of the cabi n and their 
table was like an old-fashioned country hotel. The eatables were 
all placed on the table and at each end of the tabl e was placed the 
meat to be carved and the passengers carved for themse lves. The 
fi rst morning we were on board I was a bashful boy and the 
balance of the passengers made a rush for the tables and when I 
went in all of the seats at the table were filled except the one 
at the head of the table and I was to take tha t. I was for backing 
alit but a dozen voices told me to take that seat and I did and 
carved to the satisfaction of all , I think, and I found it a good 
lesson. I have never shirked from carvi ng since. 

On the lower Lake we had very pleasant weather and landed 
at Queenstown an right and went to the top of Brock's Monu­
ment on Queenstown Heights, 175 feet, where we had a fine "iew 
of the lake and surrounding country, which was then almost an 
unbroken wilderness. 

W e took stage at Queenstown for N iagara Falls, then in all 
their natural grandeur,-before they fell into the hands of 
sharpers. We stayed all night at the Clifton I-louse stand ing 
where the Cli fton House now stands. vVe were ferried across the 
river in a canoe, which cost 25 cents_ \Ve went up to the fall and 
behind the sheet of water without any extra expense. We visited 
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Lundy's Lane and saw a Scotch regiment parade there in their 
plaid uniforms. There were nearly, or quite, a thousand men 
and not one less than six feet in height. 

We took the stage from the Falls to Black Rock, where we 
crossed the river on a ferry boat and took the horse cars to 

Buffalo. The cars were about the size of a common omnibus and 
ran upon wooden ra ils. They were seated like an omnibus and 
ran drawn by horses hitched one after the other. 

At Buffalo we took a large steamer, the "New York," which was 
crowded with passengers,-Over 700 on board. We stopped at 
all the ports and took wood as no coal was used then. At Dunkirk 
and Erie we took large quantities of wood and after we left Erie 
the wind blew a gale and every passenger I saw but Uncle 
Stoddard and myself and one other was seasick and vomited all 
over the boat, so that there wasn't a decem place to sit down. The 
boat was a good one and took us through safely. We stopped at 
Cleveland about half a day and we went up in the City and got 
dinner at a hotel on Superior Street kept by the Scovilles and we 
got a good dinner. It was a small wooden building not much 
larger than the Central House3 in this city. I stopped there 
several times afterward. The old gentlemen was in the legislature 
the time the act passed for the Ohio Canal from Cleveland to 
Portsmouth. 

We left Cleveland and proceeded to Detroit and when we 
la nded there we looked up Lewis Goddard, a brother of Harlow 
Goddard 6f Richvi lle, who was then quite a wealthy man at 
Detroit. We learned from him that the cholera was raging at De­
troit and all business but the undertaker's suspended and as we 
did not wish to engage in that we took the firs t stage west, I to go 
to Ypsilanti and Uncle Stoddard to go to Michigan City. We 
settled up and I gave him my note for about $15 which he had 
advanced to me. 

The only communication between Detroit and Chicago by 
land was by stage through Ypsilanti and the road about two­
thirds the way from Detroit to YpSilanti was through what was 
known as the Black Swamp and the roads in the spring of the 
year were just terrible. For about 12 or 15 miles it was one con-
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tinuous mudhole, and in June, when we went through, or rather 
the 1st of July, it had dried out, and everybody who could left 
the city and went back into the country. 'Ve go to Ypsilanti 
which was tolerably we ll settled on the stage road to Chicago and 
the citizens of Detroit stopped at the fann houses wherever they 
cou ld, but while I was at Ypsilanti several died on the road and 
were left at the first opportunity. It was just terrible. A person 
dying in the coach, the passengers would get out and walk until 
an opportunity occurred to leave the corpse and several were left 
at Ypsilanti while I was there. I was engaged clerking in a hat 
store and a butcher shop was kept in the rear end of the store, or 
rather a back room. 

My employer's name was Post and his store on the East side 
of the Huron River and two or three times I think there were 
corpses left there and the butcher, whose name I have forgotten, 
and I buried them. They were just nailed up in a rough box 
and pUt in the butcher's wagon and taken to 'the Pouer's field 
and buried there . Afterwards the butcher had an attack of [he 
cholera and I took care of him and he got well. I had no fears of 
the cholera, the thought never en tered my mind that I could 
have it. 

I stayed at Ypsilanti until the ISth day of August, IS34. I 
received a letter from Uncle Stoddard at Defiance that he was 
there and wanted that I should come to Defiance. I had started 
from Richville with my clothes packed in a pair of saddle bags, 
which I had traded for a peddler's tin trunk, as I thought I 
could keep them in better shape in that. 

I had no money to pay expenses from Ysilanti to Defiance and 
I borrowed $3 of the butcher, for which I gave my note. I packed 
all my belongings in my tin trunk and started from Ypsilanti on 
the morning of the ISth of August, IS34. T here was a trai l 
down the Huron River to Monroe and a wi lderness all the way. 
T here were a few French settlers along the bank of the river and 
I had 110t gone far before I was overtaken by two men who had 
a horse between them and took turns in r iding. They kindly 
took my trunk, which was rather unhandy to carry, and carried 
it on the horse a part of the time and insisted on my rid ing once 
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three or four miles. The distance was 35 miles from Ypsilanti to 
Monroe and we gOt there about 6 o'clock, and while we were at 
supper I heard a couple of men talking of go ing to the Bay 
Settlement and upon inquiry found that th ey had a tWO horse 
wagon and I engaged passage with them, for which I pa id them 
ISY. cents. 

As we drove up to the hote l at the Bay settlement wh icll was 
about ten or twelve miles I found a man with a one·horse rig 
going to 10 Mile Creek, and I engaged passage with him, and he 
lOok me to Ten Mi le Creek, for which he made no charge. 

I took. lodging a t the hotel at T en Mile Creek, which was so 
ca lled from i ts being ten miles from Vistula (now Toledo) , and 
the same from Maumee City, now called South T oledo. 

I paid for my lodging 12Yz cents and told the landlord I 
wanted to start early and go to Port Miami4 for breakfast, wh ich 
I did, getti ng there JUSt as breakfast was ready, about half past 
six o'clock. After breakfast I went down to the warehouse kept 
by Smith and Hubbell and left my trunk to be sent to Defiance. 
Hubbell k.ept the hotel and Smi th the warehouse. 

J think that Smith was a brother of Dennison B. Smith, now 
secretary of the Board of T rade at Toledo, Ohio. In th is con­
neCtion some may wonder how I made change, ISY. and 12\4 
cems, and for their information that there were no dimes or 
half dim es at that lime and all the change we had was Spanish 
currency and was 1/8 and 1/ 16 of a dol lar and called shilling 
and sixpence. 

J then footed it to Providence where I took dinner at Peter 
Manier's a Frenchman who had married a squaw and in a 
treaty made by the United States and the Indians he obta ined 
a mile square there. From there I weill to Prairie Du Masque5 

where I stayed all night with Samuel Vana ,whose wife I thought 
was pan Indian , making me 35 miles walk that day. 1 had an 
early breakfast and came th rough the woods to Napoleon and 
JUSt before I got there I came upon some Ind ians, camped in 
the bottom on a creek just below Napoleon. They were the flfSt 
wild Ind ians 1 had seen. T hey had some venison drying on 
some sticks over a small fire and smoke. I stopped by their 
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camp and found an old man and the rest squaws and papooses. 
The hunters were all away. One of the squaws gave me a piece of 
venison which tasted real good, although it was minus salt. 
Napoleon had been laid ou t as a town and a shanty bui lt and 
some underbrushing done. I did not know it was Napoleon 
ulllil some time afterwards. From there I followed a trail 
through the woods to Florida, or as it was then called, Camp 
No.4. Florida was not then laid Out and Camp NO.4 was a little 
below the present town of Flor i.da. From there I followed the 
bank of the river all the way to Defiance and found plenty of 
farm houses but did not stay for dinner. I thought then and I 
think so yet that the bank of the Maumee from Florida to 
Defiance is as pleasant as any place I ever saw. Trees were grow. 
ing all along the bank and a hot day in August made the shade 
very agreeable. as I was tired and footsore. 

1 arrived at the river opposite the foot of J efferson Street 
about 3 o'clock P .M. on the 20th day of August, 1834, and David 
H ull. the father of Mrs. J onas Colby and Mrs. E. F. Linden­
berger: ferried me across and I went into a grocery kept a littl e 
east of where Charles B. Squire! now lives and found I had fi ve 
franc piece and seven cents left, and the seven cents I spent fo r 
crackers. I had no dinner except the small piece of venison the 
squaw gave me and 1 soon found my uncle , who had the job 
of laying the Roor in the new hotel at the corner of Front and 
Clinton streets where \Vm. H offman's furniture store now is. 

I made a barga in to go to work for Payne C. Parker. the land­
lord of the hotel, the next morning at $8 pcr month and board. 

The next morning he told me he wanted me to go with a 
Frenchman named Thomas Carr up to the farm where T homas 
, 'Varren then lived, better known since as the Dunning Farm, 
after a load of oats. We wcre to go with a large piTOgue 60 or 70 
fee t long and I had never been in one in my lire, but we got 
up there and got back with the oats notwithstanding the sacres 
of the Frenchman at my aw kwardness, but we had to wade a 
good part of the way as the water was low and a good many 
rimes. I worked for him unti l the 3rd day of September when I 
was taken sick with the bilious fever, which confmed me to the 
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bed until the 3rd day of October and duri ng all that time I had 
not seen a looking glass and when I gO t up and looked in the 
glass 1 did 110t know myself, I was so thin and my beard had 
grown a fuzz all over my .face. In the commencement of my 
sickness Dr. Jonas Colby attended me, but he soon tOok sick 
and a young Doctor by the name of Smith, who was then board­
ing at the hotel where I was sick attended upon me and would 
have killed me had Dr. Colby not got better so that he came 
to sec me and found me in a terrible condition. My bowels were 
constipated,-no passage for severa l days, and my stomach was 
so coated that medicine took no effect. He immediately gave me 
vomi ts of blue vitriol which vomited me every few minliles so 
that my stomach soon had some action and he soon got me in 
better shape. This Dr. Smith charged me a big bill,- I do not 
now recol lect but be tween 30 or 40 dollars and as I had no 
money to pay he sued me and obtained judgment and put me in 
jail. As the laws then were there was imprisonment for debt. 
Sylvester Blackman ba il ed me out of jail and I think I was on 
the li mits about a year. T he jail limits at thal time were co· 
extensive with the county. Smith sold the judgment for a small 
slim and took the money and ran away and never heard of him 
afterwards. 

The bed on which I was sick was a straw tick wi th no co tton 
sheets on the bed, only two Mackinaw blankets, and I laid there 
with no auention from morning to noon and from noon to 
nigh t, when the men, incl uding Uncle Stoddard , who were 
at work finishing off the house came in to see me, and when I 
was unable to brush the flies off they cut bushes and pi led over 
me. I was in this cond ition for about three or four weeks when 
a man by the name of J acob G. Wilden, his wife, and wife's 
sister, came to lhe hotel to board and after that I fared beu er. 
As soon as I was able {O walk about the house I commenced 
tend ing store, as the Store ad joined the room in which I was 
sick. You will ask what the landlady was doing all the time. The 
truth was she had no time. She was one of the hardest working 
women I ever saw. She had several chi ldren and had to· do most 
of the work herself and many a time after I gOt able to be in 
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the store I have spli t oven wood for her after ten o'clock at 
night, and she would bake after ten o'clock at night. She seldom 
went to bed before II or 12 o'clock and was generally up the 
first one in the morning and had breakfast ready at six o'clock 
or before. 

After I got strong enough I got up and made the fires for 
her in the morning, as all the cooking was then done over the 
fi re in the fireplace. Stoves were unknown in Defiance at that 
day. 

In the month of Ju ly before my arrival there was the highest 
water in the river which had ever been known and as all the 
fa rms were locau::d along the Maumee and Auglaize River bot­
toms everything had been drowned out, and the only thing left 
for us to eat was pork and beans. Beans had generally been 
planted on the highest ground and escaped the Rood. After the 
cool weather comenced, wild mea t was abundant but a person 
soon tires of all fresh meat, especially when there is no butter 
to cook it with, and bUller was then extremely scarce. There 
were no pastures and tbe cows ran in the woods and few milked 
them more than enough to furnish them milk , and the cows 
often strayed and were gone two and three days at a time. 

The corn was nearly all destroyed and such as would make 
meal suitable {or bread was $1.25 per bushel in the ear. I got 
SIO per month and board after I gal able to go into the store, 
and as the postage on a letler from St. Lawrence County' was 
25 cents and I had sisters, cousins and sweethearts there and 
paid the postage both ways it took full one half to pay my post­
age. During that fall a brother of Mrs. Payne C. Parker who had 
been piroguing on the river was taken sick with the cholera and 
brought to the hotel and died there. Uncle Stoddard helped 
bury him and shortly after Uncle StOddard was taken with the 
cholera and was very sick with it and I tended to him from 
Monday morning to Saturday night without goi ng to bed or 
taking off my clothes. He finally got belter but was so poor that 
no one would have known him. He would drink boiling hot 
chicken brother and complain of its being cold. While in the 
employ or Payne C. Parker a little incident occurred showing 
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the foolhardi ness of a boy. In some ma nner Mr. Parker learned 
that a man living in a little cabin on a small island about ten 
miles up the Auglaize River, in Paulding County, had killed one 
of his cattle then running at large in the woods as all cattle 
d id at that time,-the callie being marked with some kind of 
a mark in the ear,-and he wanted me to go up and see about it. 
I started on an Indian pony one afternoon and as it was only 
an Indian tra il it was nearly night when I got tbere and the man 
was not at bome and I waited lIntil he came and looking about 
I found the hide of an anima l lIpon a pole behind the cabin. 
with Mr. Parker's mark on i t. I made known my business and 
he admitted that he killed the anima l but claimed that he 
and his family had been sick and had nothing to eat and the 
animal had been running abou t there all the fall and if it was 
Mr. Parker's he would pay for it, and as it looked to me that 
the pay would be a long time coming I proposed to take the 
two hind quarters and he could bring the hide down. and pay 
for the other two quaners, to which he assented. I tied the two 
quarters together and hung them over my saddle and led my 
pony home and arrived about midnigh t. In about two months 
afte rwards the man came down and brought the hide and coon· 
skins enough to pay for the meat. 

Sylvester Blackman and a ma n by the name of Wheeler car· 
ried on a harness shop over the store in the hotel building and 
boarded at the hotel. Wheeler got dissatisfied and went farth er 
west and Sylvestet and Uncle Stoddard rented the hotel of Mr. 
Parker and I hired out to them at $10 per month and board. I 
was the man of all work about the house, tended bar and sold 
whiskey, 3 cents a drink or two drinks 61,4 cents , which was the 
smallest silver coin in circulation, there being at that time no 
silver coined in the United States less than the 25 cent, and the 
61,4. 12!;'2 and 18% and in fact the 25 cent pieces wete all Spanish 
COIns. 

Mr. Blackman's family were then living at Dexter, St. Law­
rence County, N.Y. and there was no way of getting to De­
fiance until navigation opened in the spring. They hired twO 
German girls to do the work, onc name Barbara Speker and the 
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only name I ever knew for the other was Dutch Maria. Barbara 
Speker was then a young gi rl about 18 or 19 who afterwards 
married j ohn Dowe and is sti ll living at Brunersburg and the 
mother of j ohn Dowe, late treasurer of Defiance County, Ohio. 
Neither of these girls could speak any English but Barbara soon 
lea rned. Maria was an old girl, 30 or more, and d id not learn 
much. 

Uncle Stoddard was a widower and at the opening of nav iga­
tion in the spring of 1835 he went East for the purpose of arrang­
ing some busi ness at R ichville and to bring Blackman's family 
and wh ile at R ichvill e he married Sophronia Daggett, daugh­
ter of Gardner Daggeu and sister of Mrs. Wm. CarterS and Mrs. 
E. H . Gleason. And Uncle and his wi fe and Blackman's family 
arrived a t Defiance on the 5th day of june, 1835, accompanied 
by William A. Brown. Blackman's family consisted of his wife 
and three chi ldren, one son, De\Vi u, and twO daugh ters, Pa­
melia and Del ia. Pamelia afterwards married Austin Hauser and 
Del ia married Wm. D. Haymaker, father of Kidder V. Hay­
maker,$ I was taken sick in 1835 with lhe bi lious fever and was 
sick about three weeks and was just able to sit up when ' -V. A. 
Brown and the olhers came and I was very glad to see an old 
schoolmate. He brought in his trunk five nice large pota toes 
sent by AUlll Soph ia Rich. O wing to the h igh water in the 
summer of 1834 potatoes were very scarce, so much so that 
seed pota toes sold in Ft. Wayne at 38 cen lS per dozen and at 
Defiance there were none. I cut the eyes off the five pota toes 
and planted the eyes and from them raised a half bushel of 
potatoes. They were very scarce for two years as there was 
scarcely and seed here to plant in 1835. 

Sidney S. Sprague had comenced building a new house where 
Enos Bla ir now lives10 and ' '''. A. Brown got work scoring tim­
her for the hewers and bliste red his hands bad ly and did not 
work long at it. 

There was another hotel at the corner of Front and jefferson 
Streets and the on ly ferry across the river was at the foot o{ 
where the cana l now is and the river could be forded there in 
the summer. Uncle Stoddard thought it would be a good plan 
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to have a ferry at the foot of Clinton Street and he went to 
Detroit and bought a two inch cable long enough to reach 
across the river and at that time there were a plenty of large trees 
standing along the bank of the river on both sides and to which 
he fastened his cable and stretched it across th e river. I tended 
the ferry most of the time ti p to the time that W. A. Brown and 
I took a contract of grubb ing for John E. Hunt, part of the 
tim e for wages and part of the time for a share of the receipts. 
In the summer time it was pleasant enough but when ice com­
menced running it was pretty laborious work. 

In September, 1835, W . A. Brown and I look a job of under­
brush ing 100 acres of land for John E. HuntH JUSt west of the 
original town of Defiance where 'War ren and others and Phelps 
and others additions to Defiance now are, and we hired F. F. 
Stevens to he lp us and when we had about 30 acres under­
brushed the land changed hands and the purchaser did not 
want to exchange any money that way. John E. H unt wrote 
us tha t he had sold the land and he wan ted to pay us for wha t 
we had done and if we could come to his residence at Maumee 
City he wou ld gi ve us a better job and we went and commenced 
clearing and grubbi ng the streets for turnpiking. Maumee City 
was then the head of steamboat nav igation and two tow ns had 
been laid out where Toledo now is, the one called Vistula 
and the other Port Lawrence, but lilli e improvemen t had been 
made. A tow n had been la id out also at Manhattan 3 miles 
below Toledo and piles driven and a platform la id out to the 
center of the river and steamboats stopped there. Mau mee City 
on the West side and Perrysburgh on the East side were r ival 
towns and both claimed to be at the head of navigation. The. 
steamers were owned at Perrysburg and they laid up there, 
which gave Perrysburg the advantage. 

We commenced work on the 22nd day of October, 1835. It 
was beautiful wea ther and continued so up to the fi rst day of 
December with the exception of onc afternoon when i t rained 
and Brown and I lathed a small office that General Hunt was 
building. We lost a half day raising the First Presbyterian 
Church there and which I think was th e flfSt Presbyterian 
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Church ra ised on the Maumce River. O ur job was for cutting 
out the streets, 28 feet wide close to the ground and six feet in 
width each side of that. Thc trees were all grubbed out so that 
it could be plowed and tlIrnpikcd. No brush or rOO ts left on the 
ground. It was flat and even land and we got 75(: per rod. We 
h ired a widow lady to board us and bargained with her to 
have our breakfast so that we could be on the ground and go to 
work as soon as we could sec to chop and she faithfu lly kept 
her promise. We tOok our dinner (pork and corn bread) and 
at night we worked as long as wc could see to chop and then 
put up our fi res. We sold everything we cou ld for wood and 
the large elm trees we sold for docktimber and it was hewn and 
taken awa y as fast as we could cut the trees dow n and we kept 
the fires going and with considerable favorable dry weather we 
had everything burnt up or nearly so every mornin g. The worst 
to gct rid of were the large rOOts we grubbed up but with con­
stant attention we go t them burned up. 

O n the last day of November it bcgan to freeze somc and a 
man who had a job alongside of us madc us a proposition and 
we saw General Hunt and he agrecd to let us off and take the 
other man and we so ld Out JUSt r ight and took our money and 
started after dark and came up as far as vVatcrville and stayed 
all n ight there. It snowed about twO inches that night and wc 
werc up bright and earl y when we got to Roche de BOUlC" 

the saw mill there was on fire and nearly consumed. 
It was very hard wal king but we reached Defiance a little 

aftcr dark and it was pretty hard work to get across the river, 
but we were awful glad to get home and would havc waded 
the river through the slush and ice if there had been no other 
way, as the water was only about 2 feet deep. Vve had worked 
about 34 days and each had a little over $76 in his pocket, which 
was big wages for those days. T hen mcn could be hi red for 50¢ 
a day and board. Out of my money I paid the judgmen t for 
my Smith doctor bill and got my releasc from prison as by going 
out of the country my bail bond was forfeited and suit could be 
commenced against my bail, and I was a frec man once more. 
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It was several years after that before imprisonment for debt 
was abolished. 

There were no licensed saloons in those days and none but 
the hotel keepers were authorized to sell liquor to be drunk 
upon the premises, and there was not so much drunkenness in 
proportion to the population as there is now. Nearly every 
family had its jug of wh iskey in the house and most of the 
farmers along the river owning anything like large fa rms kept 
a barrel of whiskey in the house, and no large gathering like a 
raising or anything like that was thought of wililOut whiskey. 
There were no breweries near here then and whiskey and wine 
were the only drinks and the wine was all imported. Eggnog, 
milk-punch and black-strap (molasses and whiskey) were the 
favorite drinks of those who did not wish to take their whiskey 
straight. Of course there was brandy and rum but they, like the 
wines , were imported and came high. 

'When W. A. Brown and I returned to Defiance we found 
that John W. Moore and famil y and his half-brother Erskine S. 
Perkins had rented the hotel and had put in a store of goods. 
Soon after our' return I hired out to Mr. Moore to work about 
the hotel and in the store, if necessary. But I did not do much 
in the store as E. S. Perkins had the management of that and 
he was not much good at anything else. Every hotel had a bar 
then at which whiskey and wi nes were sold to be drunk at the 
bar and I tended bar and waited on the tables and helped the 
girls in the kitchen when necessary and looked after the pro­
visions, wood, etc. Mrs. Moore looked to me more to provide 
such things than to her husband. 

In the fall of the year Mr. Moore had some groceries shipped 
to Perrysburg on a steamboat and in the winte r he wanted me 
to (ake ·his team and go ( 0 Perrysburg after them and I went. 
It was cold freezing weather without much snow. I drove on the 
river most of the way, only going off around mill dams. There 
was only one dam then before 1 got to Roche de Bout where 
there was one and another abou t a mile and a half below at 
W·atervill e. There was a saw mill at Roche de Bout which was 
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burned when we were returni ng from Maumee City. At "Vater­
ville was a flouring mill and the only one on the river except 
the Hedges mill , which I think was com cracker attached to a 
saw mill. There was very little wheat to grind in those days but 
the Waterv ille mill had the reputation of making the best Rour. 

I arrived at Perrysburg all right and got my load, which con­
sisted of a hogshead of sugar weighing 1200# or over and the 
balance of the load was coffee and tea. In going down I stayed 
at Scribner's all night and four bloods from Perrysburg wcre 
there drinking and playing cards and were very anxious that I 
should join them, but I declined with thanks and left in the 
morning before they were up. In returning I gOt. as (ar as Pat­
rick's where I stayed all night. At Patrick's they discouraged 
me about driving on the river benveen there and whcre Na­
poleon now is, as it was springy and the ice not very sa fe and 
told me that I better go on the other side of the river. There 
were three islands in the river and they told me that the most 
danger was among tho.)c islands, but as I had had no difficul ty so 
far and the ict: was clear and smooth and I drove along pretty 
briskly and just as I passed the last island the hind wheels of 
the wagon CUt through the ice SO that the hubs rested on the 
ice. I saw the danger and whipped up my horses and they pulled 
the wagon up on to solid ice but the wheels had cu t the ice 
about ten rods before we struck ice solid enogh to bear. I 
rejoiced that my wagon was not on the bottom of the river and 
nothing saved me but a keen eye to danger and prompt action. 

On the 1st day of November, 1836, W. A. Brown and I formed 
a partnership in the grocery business and fixed up a room under 
Benj. B. Brubaker's store on J efferson Street between Front 
Street and the river, fronting on the river and Jefferson Street, 
and I went to Maumee and purchased a lot of groceries, in­
cluding wines and liquors, and we continued in the business 
together until about the 1st of May, 1837, when I bought him 
out and ran the business alone until 6th day of September, 1837, 
when I closed out to Benj. B. Brubaker. My stock at that time 
amou nted to about $300. Upon the whole I lost money in the 
operation and Brown did not get much for his time. 

Lyman Langdon bought out the interest of Mr. Moore in the 
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hotel in J an. 1837, and Mr. Moore sent his goods to Bruners­
burg, then a flourishing town doing as much business as De­
fiance. as there was a saw and grist mill there. Mr. Brown tended 
the grocery and I went to Brunersburg to tend store for Mr. 
Moore, where I had a pretty good lime. .. In the spring of 
1837 one of the customers of J. W. Moore who was owing him 
quite a liule was arrested in Fort Wayne, Indiana, for passing 
counterfeit money and was in jail there and Mr. Moore sent 
me up there to see if anything cou ld be collected of him. I 
went on foot on the North Side of the' river lO H icksvi ll e and 
stayed all night at Ransom Osborn's and left early in the morn· 
ing to see a couple of customers on the little St. Joseph River 
and went down toward Fe 'Vayne, It was soon after the ice 
wem ou t and the river was very high and there were no bridges 
and I had to go up the small streams some distance to get 
across and it was nine o'clock at night when I got to the Feeder 
dam across the Little St. J oseph Ri ver and I stayed in a shanty 
kept by a Frenchman who was boarding the hands at work on 
the dam and the cook had to give up her bed in the kitchen to 
me and find some other place to sleep. I slep t soundly an~ 
breakfast was already cooking in the fireplace when I awoke 
and a Johnn y cake was baking on the hearth but the lid had 
not been put on and a hen and chickens came ou t from under 
my bed and ate out of the bake ketlle on the hearth, Afternoon 
on the day before I stopped at every house I caQ1e to get some­
thing to eat, but did not find a house where they had an yth ing 
cooked, and as it would take too long to cook it I pushed on 
and I did not get anything until I got to the Feeder dam at 9 
o'clock, nearly starved, but I got ham, eggs and cold J ohnny 
cake, which never tasted better. 

I went [Q Fort Wayne and succeeded in getting $10 and came. 
home on the SOllth side of the River as far as New Rochester and 
crossed there and came to Bruncrsburg, at which time I bought 
out \-Y. A. Brown. 

I left Defiance about the 1st of May, 1837, in company with 
Mrs. J. W. Moore and Mrs. Amos Stoddard for St. Law· 
renee County, N, Y ., and whil e in St, Lawrence Co. met Wm. B. 
Phelps, a cousin of mllle, who had been living near Boston , 
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Mass .• having left St. Lawrence [COUnlY} before I did. We had 
a pretty good time together. Were pretty wild. Managed to 

get five suppers in one night and had the last one cooked spe­
cia lly for us. During my absence Uncle Stoddard tended gro­
cery for me. 

Since I wrote the above I have found an old memorandum 
book of expenses of mysclf, Mrs. l\:foore and Mrs. Stoddard. 
Mine $20, Mrs. Stoddard $22. 19. Mrs. Moore the same: That 
included everything from Defi ance to Richville. l'lIl y expenses 
back from R to Defiance .$22.00. 

On the 12th day of September, 1837, I commenced work (or 
Charles V. Royce in a hotel at the cOTller of Front and J efferson 
StTCets and worked for him until the 20th day o f October, 1837. 
During this time the canal was let from the Junction to Toledo 
and it was a very busy ti me in the hotel as there were a great 
many COntractors in attendance. 

On the 20th October, 1837, I commenced tending StOre for 
Wm. and]. B. Semans at the rale of SI6 per month and board 
and I worked for them until the 29th day of April, 1838. when 
I left their employ, for which they paid me $100. 

On the 18th day of Novcmber, 1837, J commenced the study 
of law with Wm. Semans and paid him S50 for the two years 
tuiti on and USe of li brary. Duri ng the time 1 worked for W. &: 
]. B. Semans I earned $10.19 writing for W. A. Brown, County 
Auditor, this w.riling I did n ights. 

After leaving W. &: ]. B. Semans I commenced tending the 
POSt Office and wrote for W. A. Brown, Aud itor, and during 
the summer I taught school three momhs for which I received 
$75, and for the writing I did for W. A. Brown I received ,$90, 
and on the 20th day of November, 1838, I commenced tending 
store for J. & A. G. Evans and tended for them until the 20th 
day of November, 1838, for which they paid me ,$ 16.50. I then 
commenced wri ting (or W. A. Brown in the Auditor's office and 
tended post-office and posted books and did any other job of 
writing I found to do. I was elected township clerk in the spring 
of 1838, wh ich office paid about SIO per year. I also did some 
collecting for J. A. G. Evans and W. & J. B. Semans. I stayed 
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in the post office up to about the 1st day of April, 1839. Jonas 
Colby was post-master bu t ,"V. A. Brown kept his office as 
Auditor of Williams Coun ty in the post-office. He taught school 
and I did the work in the Post-office and Auditor's office too . 

W. A. Brown liked teaching school better than writing in the 
office, as he did not have to put in so much time, and it suited 
me. I made good wages and was willing to work early and late. 
W. A. Brown did not like to get up early, always laid until 
breakfast was ready, and sometimes got up just in time to reach 
school. On the 8th day of April, 1839, I was appointed by the 
Court of Common Pleas of W illiams County, Ohio, Clerk of 
Courts of said County, which was the 1st day of the term of 
Coun, and I immediately took charge of the office. I had hard ly 
ever been in the Court room until that morning,- had served 
once as a juror and that was all. And I was somewhat awkward 
but the attorneys seemed to like me and rendered me all the 
assistance they cou ld and I soon had the reputation of being a 
first rate clerk. 

From that time on the clerk's office was my principal business. 
I still pursued the study of law and the little I saw of the prac­
tice was a help to me and at the fall election of 1839 I was 
elected justice of the peace of Defiance Township. 

At that Brunersburg was larger than Defiance and the election 
was held there. I ran against William Carter and had 59 votes 
to his 25 votes. He was then ~ Whig, and I , as now, a Democrat. 

T he canal was being constructed at that time, which made 
considerable legal business. In the month of September 'Villiarn 
Semans, my preceptor, at the instigation of his client had three 
stalwart I rishmen arrested for riot and for some reason they 
employed me to defend them, which I did and got them clear, 
for which they paid me SIO, which rather nettled Mr. Semans 
as h is client fail ed to pay him anything or very little. I think 
he got $1 or perhaps $2. I was proud of earning this $10. 

On the 7th day of December, 1839, I went before the Supreme 
Coun of Ohio and applied for admission to the bar to practice 
in Ohio, and they appoin ted P. B. Wilcox, John W. Andrews, 
Peter Hitchcock, Henry Stanbery and George Smith a com-

gg 



Memoirs of Edwir/, Phelps 

mittee to examine me and they made what I thought was a 
pretty thorough examination and they made a report in my 
favor and I was admitted and purchased a few law books in 
Columbus, more than I had money to pay for and gave my note 
for the balance and J ohn E. Hunt, then a Senator from this 
district, went my security by signing the note with me but he 
did not have to pay it. 

This wound up my operations for 1839. 
In the winter of 1840 J ohn B. Semans, a Whig, and myself 

entered into an arrangement by which we published a news­
paper called "The Barometer", a neutral paper to which we 
both contri buted. The exact time we started the paper I do 
not now recoll ect, nor the ti me we abandoned it. It was a small 
sheet. ... It was not a paying institution, although I do not 
think we lost much. ' '''e occupied a small office then on the lot 
where John H. Kiser now lives and the bui ld ing forms the 
wing part of Mrs. Downs house on the corner of Second and 
''''ayne Streets. 

On the 24th day of Apri l, 1840, W. A. Brown and I left De­
fiance on the stage and went to St. Lawrence County, N.Y. "Ve 
went to Perrysburg expecting to take the steamboa t Olive r H. 
Perry for Buffalo, but she was disabled and we took a small 
steamer running to Detroit and this was the only trip she made 
to Cleve land . From there we took a large Detroit steamer for 
Buffalo and we both had the ague going down on the boa l. It 
ra ined on the trip from Defiance to Perrysburg and we were in 
an open wagon and got wet, which probably brought on the 
fever and ague. When we were within 30 mil es of Buffalo the 
harbor was blocked with ice and we were more than a half day 
getting up to the dock. 

It was then the 1st day of May and the snow was about I ~ 
or 2 inches deep, and we stayed in Buffalo that day and passed 
a church where there was a May party and they had swep t away 
the snow and young lad ies dressed in white were dancing around 
a May Pole, each of whom held in her hand a colored or white 
ribbon and when the dance was closed the ribbons were woven 
around the pole from top to bottom and before the close of the 
party they danced the reverse and unwound the ribbons. It was 
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really a beau tiful dance but preny cold watching it from the 
sidewalk. 

From I3uffalo we went to Lewiston and took the Ogdensburg 
steamer to Oswego, as Brown wanted to stop at Sandy Creek in 
Oswego County to see h is girl. We took stage from Oswego to 
Union Square, where we had to change stages for Sandy Creek 
and "Vatertown. At Union Square we met Winchell, a great 
Ventri loquist, on his way to Watertown to perform and were 
very much interested in his si nging as he was a splendid singer 
and one of the songs he sung was the Old Oaken Bucket, which 
he rendered better than I ever heard it sung before or since. On 
the way to Watertown, which we did not reach until after dark, 
he played several tricks on the landlords, such as chi ldren cry­
ing in the stage and dogs bi ting their heels. During my ride that 
n ight the snow fell six inches deep and we suffered a good deal 
in the stage. I think we stayed in Ri chvi lle until about the 20th 
of May when George R . Brown and Manda Brown, "Y. A. and 
myself, went ou t to ' ·Y. A.'s wedding and we had a common 
three-seated spring wagon, which was about the best the country 
afforded at tha t time. I acted as groomsman and Miss Mary 
Stowe as bridesmaid and we had a very pleasant wedding. 

But to go back to the 22nd of February. 1840. T here was a 
small town with two hotels. three stores and two or three gro­
ceries at New Rochester about 14 mi les up the river and there 
was to be a ball there and Calvin S. Noble and my step sister 
Louisa Maria Smith. W. A. Brown and Mary Hull , aftenvard 
Mrs. Linden berger, myself and Mary Woodward, hired a two­
horse lumber wagon of Lyman Langdon went and we had a 
jolly time. I returned from the state of New York in June 1840 
and my sis ter Harriet came with me and soon after we went to 

keeping house in a one-story recently torn down by S. T . Sut­
phen standing between h is housetJ and J . P. Buffington's. 

During the September term of Court in that year my sister 
took sick and I had no one to stay with her nights and fTom 
Monday morn ing until Saturday night I did not take off my 
clothes or go to sleep, watched with her every night and 
attended to my court d uties d uring the day, but Saturday night 
I gave up and laid down before the fire on the Aoor and the 
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fire snapped onto the comforter and my sister could not rouse 
me by her vo ice and got off the bed and roll ed me over, which 
awakened me and I found her lying on the Roor insensible. 

During that fall I made three trips to the North line of 
Florence townsh ip, Williams County, Ohio, to attend lawsui ts 
before VanFassen, Justice o[ the Peace of said Township, in a 
case bel\veen a man by the name of Martin and E. & J . Depuy. 
It was about 40 miles and LOok [hree days [or which T only 
charged $35 (or the three trips and took my pay in flour at 
$4.2!J per barrel. This flour was very acceptable at that time 
as there was very littl e wheat raised in the coum y at that time 
and they had a pretty good country mill and made pretty good 
flou r for the times. Their mill was a few mi les above the town 
of Denmark. The mills were afterwards purchased by William 
Semans but I don't think he made any money out of it. 

The county seat of Williams County was removed to Bryan 
in February, 184 1, and I had to go there with the Clerk's office 
but did not move there, employing Nathan M. Landis to attend 
the office. 

On the 23rd day of February, 1841, I was married to Mary 
A. \"'oodward a t the residence of her sister Mrs. Orlando Evans 
by a minister by the name of H. W. I-Iill. I took my wife home 
directly after the marriage and the next night had a big recep­
tion. Nearl y everybody in the village was there. 

This was a marriage of love. We had been imimatcly ac­
quainted for a number of years and I had long wamed her but 
I did not (eel that I was able LO SUppOTt a wife. For some cause 
wh ich I never learned my step-sister, Mrs. Moore, did nOt like 
my atten tion to Mary and tried to find other company for her 
and did have her engaged to J ohn H ilton, brother of Brice 
Hil ton, who was killed raising a bridge at three mile creek just 
SOLith of Defiance. She also tried to get her married to Albert 
G. Evans an old bachelor residing at Defiance, but she did not 
succeed. 

This was a very eventful year for me. I built the house on 
Jackson Street at this writing ( 1 89~) owned by H enry Newbegin. 
It was a big undertaking and as evidence will say that lum ber was 
so scarce that I had to go to 14 different sawmills to obtain the 
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requisi te lumber. The house when fini shed cost me over 
$2000, leaving me considerably in debt. It was finished with the 
exception of some inside papering and we moved in on the 8th 
day of November and my wife was in a delicate condition and 
was never upstairs but once. She was taken sick with the bilious 
fever in December and was delivered of a boy who li ved about a 
day but d ied and we buried him in the garden before my wife 
died. She d ied on the 20th day of December, 184 1, and we took up 
the boy and buried h im in the coffin with her. I cannot look back 
to the day she di ed without severe pangs . She knew that she could 
not li ve and a short time before she d ied she put her arms aro und 
my neck and kissed me and said "Oh, Edwin. how can I leave 
you," which were the last words she said . We had just com­
menced to li"e and to have wife and ch ild taken away made me 
almost crazy. 

My sister Harri et was sti ll living with me bu t the light of 
the house was gone. The weather was bi lter cold and the snow 
deep. \Ve kept house a while and then I rented my house to 
\ V. A. Brown and my sister and I boarded wi th them. It was 
a very pleasant home for us but not like one of my own. One 
drawback of having to board at Brown 's was that I had several 
men at work for me and it was inconvenient boarding them at 
Brown's and also expensive and I hired some boarded at Or­
lando Evans. I had to frequently go to Bryan to see abo llt court 
malleI'S and trave ling was not so eas ily accomplished as now. 

I also practiced law and earned about a hundred dollars 
attend ing petty cases in the vici nity of Defiance. I was farm ing 
and raised over two hundred bushels of potatoes which I sold 
at 37Vz cents per bushel. I was also a contractor on the Wabash 
& Erie Canal, Section 103, which was opposite Townsend New­
ton's farm. and did several hundred dollars worth of work at a 
grea t disadvantage as Ohio State checks were worth on ly , 50 
cents on the dollar. The contract commenced about six miles 
from Defiance and I was up there considerably and frequently 
left there after the men quit work and came home. I was justice 
of the peace which required considerable time and I had qui te a 
large collection of canal claims. T oge ther with my law practice 
I was a pretty busy man. 

103 



Memoirs of Edwin Phelps 

I finished up my COntTact on the canal during this year and 
got the checks but it was a pretty hard time to get the money. 
Checks sold as low as 45 celllS on the dollar the last of this 
year. I had to go to Bryan quite often to attend to coun business 
and generally came home from there after dark. 

I attended to my justice business and my law practice was 
considerable for the times. 1 kept a team hauling wood to town 
and did some farmin g, princi pally raising potatoes, and the 
clerk's office at Bryan requ ired some attention from mc. Al­
though Nathan M. Landis was my deputy I still had to go there 
during court and sometimes stayed during the week. 

I had a pretty large collection to do fo r J. &: A. G. Evans, 
who had so ld out and left here with money due them all over 
[he county, amounting to several thousand dollars, much of 
which was worth less. The collection of clai ms against canal 
contraCtors who were about failing or finishing their contracts 
was considerable and the most of it had to be taken in State 
checks which were worth only fifty cents on the dollar. 

I find that I must have farmed considerable as 1 find about 
200 bushels of potatoes charged in each of the years 184 1 and 
1842, besides considerable corn. Potatoes in 1841 were 371f2 
cell IS a bushel and in 1842 were 25 cents. Corn was worth 25 
and wood $1 per cord. 

The winter of 1842 and 1843 was one of the hardest winters 
ever known in this county and a great many hogs and cattle 
were frozen to death. The snow was .about two feet deep and 
the rivers frozen solid. I drove up the river as far as Mr. Eaton's 
on the ice over the rifHes,---d id not have to go off, and the ice 
did not go out of the river until the 8th day of April and was 
than 2 feet 4 inches thick. W . A. Brown moved out of my house 
in Ma rch and my siste r Harriet and Catharine Stoddard kept 
house. On the 15th day of February, 1843, I started on horse­
back (or Colum bus. I see from my memoranda that I went to 
Kalida and from there across to Upper Sandusky and Marion 
and Delaware, and that I left Columbus about the 2nd of 
March and came back by way of Pleasant Valley and Round· 
head and Lima. I went to Columbus 1O get pay for ex tra work 
on (he canal and principally for Mooney, Wair & Sturgess. 
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While there I saw James B. SteedmanH and H orace S. Knapp," 
who had purchased a press and type and were bringing it to 
Defiance and H . S. Knapp was to be the editor and Steedman 
furnished the money. There was no direct transportation li ne 
from Columbus to Defiance and they hired a man with twO 
yoke to haul it from Columbus to Defiance. I overtook the 
team at Lima and I purchased in King's store there 50 lbs. of 
feath ers for $9.37 and they hauled them to Defiance on the 
wagon. Eggs were then worth 3 cents per dozen and chickens 5 
cents a piece. My entire expenses going and returning and at 
Columbus were $39.32. 

During the year 1843 my practice as attorney increased and 
I had one important case at Perrysburg, another at Lima and 
one at Tiffin and another at Lower Sandusky (now Fremont) 
and I felt the need .of a wife very much and my siSler Harriet 
was soon to be married and I would soon be without a house­
keeper and I had formed the acquaintance of Emily R. EaLQIl 
and on the 7th day of June we were married. It was a very rainy 
time and we were married at her father's house in P.aulding 
CouIllY. George R . Brown, myself and sister Harriet and 
cousin Catharine Stoddard rode up horseback and had to swim 
our horses across Gordon Creek. I undertook to ford and my 
horse had to swim and I had my clothes in a pair of sadd le bags 
and they all got wet. I flllally found a tree fallen across the 
creek on which the other crossed and I drove their horses 
through. The water was over the bottom belly deep to the horses 
and they had to ride out to the log and I had got across and 
look them on my horse from the log to the shore. Rev. E. R. 
Tucker married us and we went up on this side of the river 
to New Rochester and went across the river in a canoe. 

Vie left our horses there and gOt a large pirogue of William 
Gordon and all came down in about three hOllrs and it was 
about tl\'O weeks before we got our horses. In the evening Dr. 
Colby and my sister Harriet were married at my hOllse where 
Newbcgin nol\' lives and nearly everybody was invited and we 
had a very nice ti me. 

After my marriage H. S. Kn app and family boarded with liS 

about five weeks until they could get a house and during the 
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time they boarded with us there was an excursion to Fort 
Wayne on a canal boat to celebrate the completion of the 
Wabash &: Erie canal to tha t place. Lewis S. Cass of Detroit 
made the speech and in it made a sta tement tha t while Indian 
agent he made the trip from Detroit to T erre Haute, Indiana, 
in a birch bark canoe without having to walk at all. At that 
time you could go up the Maumee and St. Mary's and across 
through a wet prairie to Li tlie River and dow n the Wabash. I 
have a list of those who went on the boat wi th me and out of 
the 31 six are now living. 

In August, 1843, I went to Bryan and ma rried EraslUs H. 
Leland to Gibbs. They were married at Dr. Paul's, 
with whom she was living at the time. It was the 23rd day of 
August when I married them and I had some business in the 
clerk's office and stopped at Longley's Hotel. Before I was 
ready to start home I was taken down with bilious fever . Dr. 
Paul tried hard to break it up but without avail and told me 
I wo uld have a regular run . I could not bea r the idea of lay ing 
in bed two or three weeks at a hotel in Bryan and laid my wife, 
who was with me, that I muSt go home and to pay the bill and 
get two men to take me to the buggy and we would go home, 
and I was carried lO the buggy and went by Evansport and 
Edward F. Lindenberger was keeping hotel there. ' Vhenever 
the buggy was moving I felt prelly well and could sit up, bu t 
as soon as it sLOpped 1 would faint away. I was carried into 
the hotel and laid upon a lounge a t Eva nsport and my wife 
had the horse fed and got her dinner and drove me home. I laid 
in bed about three weeks and it was another week before I was 
able to go to the justice office. During this year as well as 1842 
I had charge of a toll bridge at the foot of Clin ton Street 
where the present bridge now stands and during some of the 
ti me Adam Wilhelm kept the gate. I still had charge of the 
toll bridge across the river and I think Adam Wilhelm tended 
up to August of this year, when John C. Woodward, brother 
of my fi rst wife, commenced tending it. 

I still kept my teams and hau led a great deal o( wood to 

town. I furnished Downs brick yard, all at $1 per cord . I also 
farmed my beeswax farm (so·called from the tenacity of the 
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soil) just west of the B & 0 depot" and sold considerable hay 
and some corn and potatoes and kept a good many men at work 
but as I could not be with them I don't think I made much. 
But I could not be idle and liked to see work go on. I had a 
great deal of hauling done about town but my principal business 
was the justice oHice and J still held the clerk's office at Bryan 
but Levi Colby was acting as my deputy and the office did not 
requi re much of my attention except at Court time. I still prac­
ticed law in Paulding and Henry Counties, bu t could not prac­
tice in Williams. My justice office paid me about $200 or $250 
per year and I got some from the clerk's office but it did not 
pay me much more than the expenses. 

The most notable event dur ing the year was the birth of a 
daughter i\'lay 14, 1844, which was named Adelaide Victoria 
and made a happy home fo r us. She grew up to be a n ice girl 
but died young with consumption. 

In June of this year David Ha rley of Florida, H enry Co., 
brought up a boat load of lumber and unloaded it a t the foot 
of Jackson Street on the river. This lumber found a ready sale 
as there were no saw mills in Defiance. The only one in the 
vicinity was at Brunersburg, which was not able to suppl y the 
demand. I had charge of the 5.:'l.les and made a few dollars out 
of it besides accommodating the community. 

This was an eventful year for Defiance. Its citizens tired 
of going to Bryan for all their legal business and started a 
movement for the format ion of a new coun ty to be called De­
fiance and petitions were circulated to the legislature for its 
erect ion and still there were some here who opposed it. One 
of the strongest opposers was William A. Brown, who feared 
it would make a Whig county. 

The legislaLUrc at that time were ,"Vh ig, and in February, 
Pierce Evans , Wi lliam C. Holgate and myself went to Columbus. 
They were both 'Whigs and J was then as now a Democrat, and 
I operated with the democratic members and they with the 
Whig members and we succeeded in getting the bill passed 
for its erection on the 4th day of Ma rch, 1845, and as soon 
as the bi ll was signed and became a law we left for home by 
the way of Delaware, Marion, Upper Sandusky and Findlay. 
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It was a rainy: bad lime and the roads were just horrible. 
but we all had, good horses and felt good over our success in 
gening the new county. but it was pretty tough. The streams 
were high and we had to swim our horses and it was pretty 
rough ridi ng all day with wet feet and legs, but I fared better 
than the others. I had a splendid , large horse who was a good 
swimmer and as it was not my first experience on horseback I 
managed to keep enti rely dry. While Pierce Evans had a fine 
horse and a tolerably fair swimmer he weighed over 200 pounds 
and his horse could not carry him out of the water. Holgate had 
a small horse who swam low and Holgate was too timid to get 
up on the saddle as I did and consequently got pretty wet. 

In coming home we illlended to stop at Harshberger's, just 
this side of the 12 mile woods, and we gOt there just after dark 
and found that they had noth ing to eat for man or beast and 
that Mr. Harshberger left that morning at four o'clock for 
Defiance to ge t supplies and they would have nothing until he 
returned. probably about midnight. Mrs. Harshberger and 
three or four children had been without anything to eat since 
breakfast. We came on about 3 or 4 miles to Chris. Desgrange's 
and stayed all night. I was put in bed over a barrel of sauer 
kraut and it was so strong that I could not sleep and got up 
and went to the barn and wrapped myself in my saddle blanket 
and crawled into the hay and slept ra ther late and there was 
considerabl e excitement until I was found when it was learned 
I was not in bed. We got home about three o'clock P .M . on the 
4th day, a pretty tired, hard looking trio. It was rain ing the 
day we arrived at Defiance and we were very muddy, covered 
with mud and wet through, but we all fel t well that we had 
succeeded in our undertaki ng although none of us expected 
to reap much personal advantage except ,,yo C. H olgate. 

The legisla ture of Ohio appointed William O. Ensign, J ames 
S. Greer and Andrew C. Biglow, associate judges of the new 
county of Defiance and they met under and by authority of the 
act creating the county of Defiance and appointed Darius Al­
len, Lyman Langdon, and Jonas Colby, commissioners to serve 
unti l their successors were elected and qualifi ed, but Darius 
Allen never met with the board and Colby and Langdon did 
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all the business. I was appointed Auditor of the county and 
acted as such until the fall election when \,y. A. Brown was 
elected and I turned the office over to him. 

The judges by authority of the act creating the new county 
met on the 4th day of April and ordered an election to be held 
on Tuesday, the 18th day of April, 1845, for Auditor, Treas­
urer, Recorder, Sheriff, Coroner, Prosecuting Atttorney and 
Surveyor, and there were no votes cast for Auditor except for 
Wi ll iam A. Brown and he claimed the office and I did not 
think him enti tl ed to it under the provisions of the act and 
made out an agreed statement of the facts to be submi tted to 

the Supreme Court, but he did not have confidence enough 
in his posi tion to submit it and I held the office until the 
general election in October when he was regularly elected, 
commissioned and qualified. 

The court also appointed Or lando Evans clerk of the courts 
and he appointed me deputy but I never did much in the 
office and he soon after appointed Charles V. R oyce his deputy, 
who performed the duties of the offi ce until William Richards 
was elected under the new consti tution. 

The Court also appoi nted Calv in S. Noble, sheri ff, and he 
was elected at the ' October election, as was the whole Demo­
cratic ticket. The court in regular session on the 29th day of 
May, 1845, appointed George W. B. Evans, H orace Sessions 
and Edwin Phelps school examiners (or the term of three years 
from that date. There was considerable business connected 
with the organization of the new county. All the taxable prop­
erty of the county had to be obtained from Will iams, Henry 
and Paulding Coumies, and settlemen ts made with the com­
missioners of the several coumies as they were all in debt and 
Defiance had to pay its proportion of the debt. I attended to all 
that and made out the duplica te for the year 1815 and re­
ceived less than $200 for my fees, not half what it was worth. 
Dr. J ohn Paul was appointed clerk of Williams County to suc­
ceed me and he was pretty careless about his books and I lost 
about a thousand dollars which was due me in the clerk's office 
when I went out of office. 

I was still justice of the peace in 1846 and also township 
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clerk and school examiner. Justice office was pretty good hut 
the others did not pay the trouble. I still kept a team and hauled 
wood to town but it hardly brought money enough to pay 
the cash expense of getting it there. 

In the summer aboUl the midd le of J uly my wife and I can· 
c1uded to go East and we took the packet for Toledo and steam 
boat for Buffalo and from there took passage on the canal to 

Utica. The New York Central railroad was only completed 
to Utica. There we took the ra ilroad to Troy, where we were 
hauled through the city by horses, as the city would not let 
engines run through the city. From Troy we went down the 
r iver to wha t was then Greenbush, now East Albany, and 
from there took the Boston & Albany railroad to Framingham, 
where an aunt of my wi fe lived and we stayed there twO weeks 
visiting friends and from there went to Boston and from 
there by rai l and steamboat on the sound to New York City. 
From there we took a steamboat to Troy and the Whitehall 
C"\nal to Whitehall and thence by steamboat across Lake Cham· 
plain, which was a very nice trip, and 1 think the neatest, cleanest 
steamboa t I ever rode upon. 

We landed at Rouse's Point and then we had to take stage 
to St. L1wrence County and arrived at DcKalb at my youngest 
sister's about midnight. The most I recollect about that ride 
is that it was very rough and we su ffered with the cold. There 
was a stretch of 12 miles of woods through the Chateguay 
' ·Voods wi lhout a house. 

We stayed in St. Lawrence County about two weeks and 
came to Buffalo, or rather Lewiston, on a steamboat and by 
railroad to Buffa lo. A part of the way the cars were draw n 
by horses. We spent a day at N iagara Falls and lOok steamboat 
from Buffalo to Toledo. When we gOt to Toledo the packet had 
just left and we took a line boat, which was very slow traveling 
and poor sleeping accommodations, but we were anxious to 
get home and in 4 or 5 days Emma was born , on the 6th of 
September. 

We left our house in charge of Juliet Bouton and while we 
were gone she and Henry C. Bouton were married there. During 
the year I got considerable coll ecting to do, one claim against 
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Sidney S. Sprague for something over $2500 in favor of Hol­
brock, Carter & Co. This caused me considerable trouble as 
I took notes of Sprague to apply on it and they were slow 
to collect and some I did nOt get. I had considerable practice 
in Henry County, so that I was nOt idle. 

I went to Bryan to pay taxes for non· resident landowners and 
also to Henry County to pay there, wh ich was quite a business, 
as there were a grea t many of the non·resident proprietors . 

In the forepart of winter just before Christmas Luther Eaton 
brought us a wild turkey that weighed over 30# and as we had 
no family that win ter but Adelaide and Emma, a baby, we 
broiled slices of the turkey as we wou ld beef steak and thought 
it delicious. 

The year 1847 was another im portant yea r for me. My wife 
and I, one or the other of us. had the ague about every day 
nearly all winter but came Out all right in the spring, and on 
the first of Apri l I commenced bu ilding a saw·mill where Peter 
Kuhn 's factory now is, and completed it and started it on the 
7th of July, just about three months. H . B. H all d id the mi ll­
wright work and put in an old.fash ioned nu tter wheel and it 
did not work right and I replaced it with a react ion wheel 
which I bought in Detroit, called a Lamb wheel, which did 
pretty well but used a great deal of water. 

On January 6, 1847, the toll bridge over the river at Clinton 
Street was taken away by a freshet. The water was higher than 
ever known before . I lost about .$ 1300 by the toll bridge goi ng 
away. Myself, ,.y. A. Brown and twO others were on the bridge 
when it went off and were taken off at Napoleon. The bridge 
lodged abollt six miles below Napoleon and we got a little 
[or the timbcr and iron. 

Wheat in February, 1847, sold at Defiance fo r 50¢ a bushcl 
and in May, 1847, for 75;. 

I forgot to mention in the winter of 1847 and 1848 1 was 
living where Newbegi n now lives and we took up our carpets in 
froOl and back parlor and Oliver Shead taught dancing school 
there and there were about 20 couples attended, for which their 
bi ll was $4.44 each. 

I ran the saw mi ll until the 1st day of December, 1848, when 
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I sold it to William A. Stevens for $2700. It had been a constant 
annoyance to me although I had a large trade. \Vork for it to 
do all the time. But it \Vas difficult at that time to get competent 
sa\Vyers and I failed to do that and I had to run it myseJE al­
though I did not pretend to be a sawyer. I was pretty q uick 
to learn and could run it better than most men I could hire. 
During that lime I built a hOllse for J. M. Sti llwell which is 
a part of the house where Alfred Ayers now lives. Horace Ses­
sions bough t it of Stillwell. It was originally a story and a half 
house willl a one story wing and Mr. Sessions ra ised it to t\Vo 
stories and Alfred A. Ayers further en larged and changed it. 

I also built a store room for Moore Brothers where the 
Schultz Bros. lately kept grocery adjoining Hatry·s. which was 
a nice store when finished. I think it was 23 x 60 feet, two 
stories, built in 184 8, but I d id nOt fmish the store until the 
summer of 1849. William Semans commenced bui lding the 
Defiance Mills about the time I commenced bui lding the saw 
mill and I see that about the first lumber I sawed was for lhat 
mill, and Sidney S. Sprague was building a bridge across the 
Maumee River at the foo t of Clinton Street and I sawed the 
plank and street sills and railing for that and during the years 
1847 and 1848 I employed from 25 to 30 men on my own 
account, besides the men employed by Phelps & Bouton who had 
the Phillips farm rented and Frazee farm across the river. and 
had in about 150 acres of wheat. 

On September 6. 1847, I traded my house where Newbegin 
now lives with Abram Davis for his fa rm in Paulding County 
adjoining Mr. Eaton. I made a good trade but rather than 
have a lawsuit I finally lost the {arm .... I bought lotS 147 and 
148 in the Old Plat of Defiance where Peter Ku hn now lives and 
had an office built there, 13 x 17, one story, and when I moved 
out of the Newbegin house I put a shed back of that lO use 
for a kitchen and lived in there about a year. 

In 1848 I sold the building I was living in to J. W. Phillips 
who moved it onto Harrison Street, and commenced the build· 
ing of a story and a half plank hOllse where Peter Kuhn now 
lives and employed Henry A. Townsend to do the work. 
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I built a barn and wood house on the premises and as I was 
Out of the sawmill I attended to my justice business and law 
practice, both of which I had neglected. While I was very busy 
with the sawmill Bouton & I were in company in farming and 
running a blacksmith shop. He made money out of it and I 
did not. In fact I never had a partner in business but what 
made more money than I did. I occupied considerable of my 
time looking after the building of the Store room for Moore 
Bros. and house for J. M. Stillwell. I was also building a saw­
mill at Hudson's lock where the paper mill now is. 

On the 7th of February, 1849, my daughter Ida Rosa lia was 
born, who afterward married J. ,.y. Genshcimer and went to 
Erie, Penn., to live and has lived ever since. Our new house 
was comfortable though small, and I had made arrangements 
to enlarge it. 

During the year 1849 I rented the Shirley farm across the 
Auglaize and hired Albert Webster to work for $200 per year 
and I found his team to haul his wood and a house to live in . 
He worked for me 7 mOlllhs and five days and concluded to go 
on his own land in Williams County and we settled and he 
bought a yoke of oxen of me and moved to Williams County. 

I don't think now in looking back upon my farming and 
other operations that they paid me for the worry and trouble 
and tha t i t would have been a great deal better for me if I had 
just stuck to my profession ' of law and let other things alone. 
But I liked to see work go ahead and kept a good many men 
at work, not many of whom earned the money I paid them, 
I had the justi ce office and could not be with them and the 
old maxim that he that by the plough would thrive must either 
hold or drive is not only true in farming but all other business. 

By an old memorandum book I kept in 1850 I find that I 
had on hand at the beginning of the year $73.45 worth of 
groceries and provisions, including hay and corn for my cow 
and horse, and I think I never had as much at the beginning of 
the year since. I kept this memorandum quite well for about 
three months, when I went to Columbus to see about leasing 
the water for 'a sawmill at the 6th lock above Defiance where 
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the paper mill now is and while absent I did nOt keep the 
memoranda and after I got home I did not resume it as I sl\Qu ld 
and as I now wish I had. 

Maria Welles, daugh ter of Woolsey Welles, went with me 
to vis it Alfred Kell ey. one of the canal commissioners. I see 
it coSt them to go to Columbus SS.12Y2 and tOok about three 
days. We went by canal to Dayton , R. R. Day ton to Xenia 
and by rail from there to Columbus. I had taken a con tract 
to saw the timber to rebu ild locks 5 &: 6 at Defiance. Although 
they were originally built in IS10 they had to be rebuilt in 
the winter of IS50 &: IS5 1 and I built the sawmi ll and sawed 
the timber and plank for the locks and I had to get out most 
of the logs myself and I went into the woods above the Junc­
tion on the Miami callal between the canal and river and got 
most of the logs working with the men until I got enough to 

raft, then rafted them and a boy and I brought them down to 

the mill. I got the mill in operation and sawed the timber and 
plank before the dose of navigation , as the water had to be 
drawn off the canal to put in the locks. It kept me preuy busy 
all the summer and fall getting the logs and an ending to the 
sawing of them. I built a basin at the mill in which to run the 
logs and I had considerable tro ub le to get the banks to stand 
and had a good many breaks which caused me considerable 
hard work. 

In the winter of IS50 &: IS51 I went to Columbus and I 
spent considerable time there trying to get appointed collector 
of canal tolls at the J unction. a preuy imponant office the salary 
of which was .$800 per year wi th an allowance of $600 for clerk 
hire. making $1400 per year of about 8 months. I succeeded in 
getting the appointment and at the open ing of navigation in the 
spring of 185 1 I took charge of the office and went to the junction. 

While in charge of the collector's office I dabbled considerably 
in other matters. I had to keep a clerk and in company with 
Dana Columbia, who kept a hotel at the Junction and with 
whom I boarded, I made a contract with R. R. Dickey of Day­
ton, Ohio. to furnish stone on {he bank of the canal. Dickey 
had his own boats and we quarried the stone during low water 
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in the bed of lhe Auglaize Ri ver and worked quite a number of 
men and made a littlc money .... 

The Cincinnali, i-I amilLOn & Dayton Ra ilroad was in proc­
ess of construction durin g th is yca r and I purchased of Taylor 
\Veuster, ncar Springdale in Butler County, an c ighth imcrest 
in what was then ca ll ed the Beeswax farm and agreed to pay 
him in ti es del ivered at Hamilton , Ohio . They were to be sawed 
ti cs, 7Yf feet long and six inchcs square, and I sawed them at 
thc mill at wha t was caJ1cd the Joncs lock. 1 had purchascd 
229 acres of what was callcd rhe Bceswax farm and in sawing 
the ti es ] took off a good many inch boards, 6 inchcs wide and 
15 feet long, as 1 sawed th e ties all 15 feet long and th en sa wed 
them in two, and in about every log th ere were four three· 
cornered picces and these 1 sawed in two and lIsed for fence posts 
and although th e fence· posts were all sap and not considered 
lasting timber in the grou nd the fence remained standi ng pretty 
good for fifteen years and it was a very cheap fence for me. 

I shi pped these ties to Ha milton to Dool itt le &: Chamberlain 
for wh ich J got 26 cents per ti c. I furnished them 6,157 ties 
amounting to 1600.82. I pa id freight amounti ng to 473.98, 
leav ing S I1 26.8:1, a net of about 18; per tic. I sold the mi ll to 

Weisenburger & about J ul y 15/51 fo r $2800. 
Th is was a very good yea r for the ca nal , the rece ipts at the 

Juncti on office amounting to about $ 105,000. I cleared boats ill 
the fall of 185 1 up to the 4th da y of December, 185 1, and was 
glad when th e sea.so n was ove r. It was slavish work, as I was 
compel led to get up at all times in the ni ght to clear boats and 
sometimes in case of a break ill the cana l west of Junction J 
would have to be up all nigh t. On the 20th day of November, 
185 1, I had on hand $ 13,000 and my bond was only $ 10,000. 
Still it was no temptat ion to me to run away. 

In the wi nler of 1852 & 1853 I spent some time in Col um bus 
and whi le there I got a con tract with R. R. Dickey, of Dayton , 
to furni sh stone on th e bank of the canal near the J unction in 
Paul ding County, Ohio. Dana Columbia who cla imed to own 
some land on lhe Augla izc River J USt below the present bridge 
across the Auglaize and I gOt out the slone in partnersh ip. H e 
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furnished the slone and during th e summer of 1852 we ex· 
pended over a thousand dolla rs; wages were 50t per day and 
board for men and $2 pe r day for men and teams and board. 

Mysel f and famil y boarded a t ~lumbia's Hotel dur ing the 
summer until Jul y 15, when my wife and chil dren went to her 
fat her's and stayed awh il e. Board was 25; a day. $ 1.75 a week. 
Everyth ing very low, flOll r $3 per banel. In th at yea r I sold 
my ni ce while Siberian wheat to "V. A. Brown &: Co. at the mill 
nOIll th e Wi lhelm mill fo r 44 cellls a bushell , the lowest I have 
ever kn ow n since. In the month of September of tha t year I had 
th e cholera and in 24 hours J lost 37 pounds of fl esh. This looks 
like a big stOry but 1 had the sca les right there and recoll ect 
well of weigh ing myself. John M. Palmer had commenced th e 
build ing of the Pa lamo i'I'i ills and had bough t th e cardin g 
machine build ing of W. B. Barnham and had put in tWO run of 
SlOlle and a m<lchinc for grinding corn , cob a nd a ll , and in 
November of that year I traded my beeswax farlll for it and was 
to pay $ 10,000 to boot, r unning for eight years. The large mi ll 
was on ly partly fin ished and I had [0 finish it ,which I did during 
tha t fa ll and win ter. It took considerable money to complete it. 

Benjam in Myers, an old Pennsylva nia German, oversa w the 
work and it progressed pretty slowly and I was a good dea l 
d isappoi nted in the expense a nd the le ngth of tim e it took to 

complete t.he wo rk , but it was a pretty good mill when dOlle. 
I t was a good ways out of town an d it was slow gell ing up a 
custom trade. Pa lmer had put two run of stones in the Barn­
ham carding machine and a co rn and cob grind er and I ran that 
unt i l the large mill was completed . 

On th e 26th da y of Febr uary, 1853, I made a contract with 
the Findla y, yilboa 8.: De fian ce Plank Road Co mpan y to bui ld 
a pla nk road for them from the corner of Fifth street and 
Clinton Street in the town of Defiance to Aycrsvillc, 5 mi les 
and 134 rods, at $ 1600 per m ile, or $5 per rod. I received 

5000 Defia nce T ownship bonds a t 75¢ on the dollar and the 
balance was to be received wh en it was collected of th e stock· 
ho lders. I bought about 250 acres of timber land of J am es 
Cheney in Paulding Co unt y and contracted with N ick Gliio t 
LO OUt the logs and ra ft them up to my sawm ill at th e 6th lock 
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from the river, where I sawed the plank and stringers and I 
would have made pretty well on the cOntract if I had rece ived 
Ill y pay, bUl the soil from here to Ayersville was a clay soil and 
when wet was very slippery and it was hard work to kee p the 
planks in place and there was a great deal of dissati sfaction with 
lhe road and the stockholders refused La pay and I lost about 
$2500. 1 had a little stock in the Defiance &: Denmark Plank 
Road which was bu ill out abou t 7 or 8 miles and the Company 
undertook to collect taU and d id co llect some but there was the 
same trou ble with that road only much worse. The fanners 
along the line of the road piled up the p lanks in piles and 
burned them and there was a great deal of litiga tion in reference 
to it, and the road finally had to be abandoned, or the colleeling 
of tolls on the road, altho ugh the com pany had graded the road 
and built bridges and spelll a large amo unt of money thereon. 
But that did not seem !O count anything wi th the farmers a long 
the Ji ne of the road. 

In the year 1853 the COntract for building the Wabash Rail· 
road , then called the Toledo &: Illi nois Railroad, was let and R . 
H . Gilson, J ohn Pau l &: J. B. Steadman, panners as R. H . 
Gil son &: Co., LOok the contract of tieing and grading the road 
from the Maumee river to the Indiana State line, and they sub· 
let two miles from the I\humee river to Timothy Fi tzpatrick , 
and to Freeman & Gardner five miles west of Fitzpatrick 's, and 
in the fall of 1853 I purchased the interest of l\'Ioses Gard ner 
and Freeman and I worked through the win ter of 18;;3 and 
1854, and finally my cousin Edward H. Phelps bought Ollt 
Freeman and in the fall of 1854 the company failed to raise 
money to pay their contractors and gave the contractors the 
privilege of quitting or going on with the understanding that if 
th ey went the railroad company would pay whenever they were 
able to rai se the money. \Ve concluded that we had the shanties 
built and tools and bedd ing. etc., all of which would be a 
tOta l loss if we <lba ndoned the work and the men needed the 
work as they would have nothing to do through the winter, and 
\!Je went on Wi lh the work, paying the men 75¢ pcr day and 
charging them $2.25 per week for board , which if they put in 
full time left them S2.2:-, pCI' week for their work or 37V2 cent s 
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per da y. We had pay as high as 3% a month interest for money 
and \\'hen the work was completed there was due us about 
$20,000 and we completed the work so far as to get th e engine 
over Ollr work "!lei to thc state line of I ndiana . 

On Sunday lhe 18th day of Ju ly, 1855, th ere was considerable 
work sti ll to be done, fenci ng, clearing up the o ld logs and 
stumps. 1 finished up the work and the fall was appointed agent 
for the rai lroad at Defiance and COJllmenced work for them in 
October. I afterwa rds took th e con tract for furnishi ng the poles 
for th em from the rh'er to the Sta tc li ne. There was no de pot, 
not. eve]} a heigh I car, "nd I boxed up a Ii ltle place under th e 
water tank and kept my office there. 1t was nearly a year before 
th e telegraph li ne was completed . I tended Ihe office night and 
da)" with onl y one man to pllmp the wa te r. 

I had during th e bui ld ing of the ra i lroad a SlO re at the mill 
and Alonzo l\'L Shead tended the store fo r me. I afterwa rds 
moved down town into a bui ld ing where \ Vm. A . Kehnast 's 
hardware SlOre now is and after I was appointed as station 
agent I sold a Lit the goods LO J. D. Graper but never realized 
much for them .... 

These goods I mostly bought in New York about September, 
1855. J was there and went from there to see my fa ther in St. 
Lawrence COUnty. I th en , and have since, wo re whiskers and 
when I went into the StOre where my falh er was he did n' t 
know me. I had a hard time getting there as Ihe train 1 went on 
on ly run to \Va tertow!l and I had to hire a conveyance to take 
me to m)' sisters near Antwerp and it COS t me more than [are 
from New York. 

In October, 1855, I was appoi nted by George H . Burrows as 
station agent of the Wabash Ra ilroad, wh ich was lhe reason of 
my selli ng to Graper. J boxed up a littl e place under the west 
water ta nk and kept my office there until the freight house was 
built and then moved into tha t and kept my offi ce there a ll 
th e time I was agent. I contracted with the R. R. Co. to fu rnish 
the te legraph poles from th e Maumee R iver to th e Indiana 
State line. T he fi rst poles were ei th er white o r burr oak and 
had to have the bark taken off and were to be 30 fee t long and 
nOl less th an 6 inches at the lOp. I got them de livered at 25¢ a 
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piece and received 30, My wages were $50 per month and 1 
managed by trading one way and a nother to get about $75 per 
month, 

Whi le engaged in the building of a railroad, I fi rs t bough t 
out Moses Gardner, who, in com pa ny with I ra Freeman took 
th e COlltntCt or R. H . Gilson and Co. I paid him about $'100.00 
for money advanced and for benefIt of hi s cOntract :lI1d Free­
man and I ca rri ed it on through the winter of 1853 and 1854. I 
had just comple ted my cont ract for a plank road from Connan's 
corner, 5th and Clinton Sts. to Ayersville, a distance of 5 mil es 
and 134 rods, and the company were unable to pay me and 1 
lost nea rl y S3000 .. , . I n every shanty a long th e line we had to 

keep a barrel or wh iskey, as the man would lIot \\'ork with­
alit it. 

Our firs t contract was for five mil es commencing two mil es 
from (he Ma umee Ri ver, Timothy Fitzpatrick having th:n two 
miles. Thomas McGushen had the nex t three m iles west o[ us 
and A. V. Sim pson wanted th e contrac t on the railroad and I 
went in with him and we took the three miles west of Mc­
Gushen. Simpson took cha rge of that three miles bu t I went up 
occasiona ll y and had to bear the brunt o[ furnish ing the means 
to carryon the work. Sim pson was a good worker. ... 

After the grad ing was done on the railroad I took the contract 
of furnish ing and d istribu ting the ties from the Maumee river 
to th e Ind iana State line at 30 cents each and d id not lose an y· 
thing in that contract if I had go t my pay, but when the road 
was finished there was about $20,000 due me and I got abOll t 
S7,000 in stock in the road, which I turned out to my cred itors 
at 50, on the dollar. The ra ilroad contracts cost me altogeth er 
about $20,000 and I had to or did borrow the money and paid 
every hand, although I had to pay as high as 3% a month for 
some o f the money. 1200 I hOl"l"o\\'cd of William Sheffi eld and 
paid him S3G every month for abo ll t IS months for it and I 
suppose that in after years his conscience' troubl ed h im or he 
was d isappointed to think he could not loan money that way any 
more and he shot himsel f. 

At this time I was insolvcllI but \\'orked away a nd fi nall y got 
out of these d rags . I shut right down and did not make an y 
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more debts and as fast as I got a few dollars ahead I pa id it on 
myoid debts. r also had the contract of fencing the road over the 
most of my contract for grading, which I hired done and on 
which I did not lose anything as it \\ras all woods and a common 
Virgi ni a worm fence was all the company required. In Paulding 
County the most of the settlers wefC darkies and the worst 
trouble was to keep them from ge lling ahead of me. They 
liked to eat better Llull work :lIld the white scttl ers, with few 
except ions, werc not Illuch beller. 

All the time I was station agent I worked very hard, I 
strained every nerve to make money to pay debts and did lots 
of extra work fo r the R. R. Co. for which I never got so much 
as a thankce. 1 wil l here one experience insert which I had 
which shows what pluck will do, 

The passenger trains passed this stat ion about noon, the a ile 
going west at one o'clock 1',;\1. The treasurer of the R. R. Co. 
sent me a mortgage which they wanted put on record in Pauld· 
ing Co, that day, I had no one to send and dared not trust them 
if I had. They ran a passenger train each way a day and the 
freight and accomodation which met here at 3:40 in the mom · 
ing, I took the train west to Emerald at I o'dock and walked 
to Paulding. The recorder had gone to Dixon,---<arried the 
mail , would not be back unti l nigh t. The mortgage contained 
about 5,000 words. I sat down and recorded the mortgage and 
finished just as the recorder returned and we compared it and he 
certified the recording of it and charged $6.00 which I paid him 
for the work I had done and all he gave me was my slipper. I 
sta rted on foot back and reached the canal just as a canal boat 
was coming down the canal. I got on that and rode to the 
Schooley lock and took it afoot again and reached the depot just 
in time for the 3:40 tra ins and switched them ~II ri ght, as I 
had to [ene! switches as well as office . It seems as if SHch work 
ought to shorten a man's life, bill how long would ' have lived 
if I had not indulged in such extra feats. 

By reference to accoums kept in 1856 nom was · 9 per barrel 
and corn mea l 80 cents per bushel, on Jan. I, 1856. This 
was caused by a frost the forepart of June, 1855, wh ich cut the 
wheat and corn badly and many sent to MiChigan and got flint 
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corn to plant. I purchased about 100 bushels in th e ear and 
sold for seed. 

I still owned the mills ca ll ed the Palama Mill s and I hired a 
mille r by the name of Nelson Sloll e to work for me and tak e 
charge of the mi ll. He was a good, honest man but th e mills 
did not pay expenses. For sollle reason I could never under­
sland we did not get the custom work, the Defiance l\'l ill s got it. 
Although we d id good work and gave honest yields th e ro:tds 
from town up there were "ery bad. The mosl we got was from 
Delaware township. They left their grists as they went to town 
and called for them on their return. 

This year was a good year for me. In the winter I made 
arrangements with T oledo men to buy and ship d ressed hogs, 
clover seed and corn , oats and anything the market required 
there and did qu ite a large business. The corn trade d id not 
become brisk until Ma y and J une after planting time :lll cl 
through these months I averaged about 100 dollars a da y on 
corn alone. I bought for Howe & Kra Lls , distillers in T oledo, and 
we loaded one car and sometimes twO a day, and a lthough I 
bo ugh t for a sma ll commission it made me prcuy good wages 
inasmuch as it cost me nothing but my own hard work to handle 
it. The ra ilroad paid for handling it bllt lO make it marc livel y 
I had to take hold and help load myself. I also did a pretty large 
trade in oa ts, which I shi pped to C. A. King & Co. Although I 
had no ca pi ta l my prompt way of doing business brought my 
money and as all the prod uce was shi pped to Toledo where I 
deposited all the money I received a t the station I co uld me that 
:-Ind draw on T o ledo partics to make my remitta nces. . 

I also bought su pplies fo r the wood train on the railroad. I 
was running the mill and furnished frolll that flollr, commenl 
and an ything else they wa nted in that line and bought for 
them pork , beef, butler, eggs, pota toes, which was a conven ience 
to them <1nd a littl e help to me. C. P. Fletcher was runn ing the 
train and his headquarters were at Ft. \Vayne, but th e depot h ' i1S 

someways alit frolll the city and I bought everyth ing righ t at 
th e depot so that he had no trouble. The ra ilroad age nts don't 
try now to get freight for the railroad as 1 did th en and th e 
superintendents I don't think encourage it as they d id th en. 
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At the Democratic Convention in 1857 J was without any 
eflon on my part nomina ted for the office of coun ty clerk and 
elected by about 1200 majori ty. This was a pretty good office 
and I wa~ glad to get it :lS I was will ing to work all I coll id to 
get Ollt of th e delemma I was in by re;lson of the fa ilure of the 
railroad to pay me and it was not tli en as noll' ( 1895) the ru le 
for :l llIa ll to go out and ask voters to vote for him. I stayed at 
homc and attended to my work ilnd the votcrs voted for me 
withou t solicita ti on. I had form ed a partnership with Ansel 
Stephens (?) in the milling business and he ran the m ill so 
that I had nothing to do ,,!ith the work there but had to look 
alit for the financial end of it. H e proved to be not very reliable 
and in the end I lost money by him as I did by all the parties 1 
eve r weill in partnership with. 

I find from my oid aCCO lllHS that Nelson Stone worked for me 
190 days and Peter Gri el'nan, a Fren chma n, about the same time, 
endi ng May I, 1857, Stone a t 0$ 11 28 and Gri eman at $ 1.1 5 per 
day. 

It took all the mill ea rned to pay th eir wages. The custom 
work was not vc ry much and I did not have mea ns to run it as 
a merchant miller. 

The fIrSt :Monday in February, 1858, I took the clerk·s office, 
having been e lected fo r 3 years. I hired J. W. Phillips to assist 
me at the depot and I rnanaged to rLln hoth concerns, but I 
could not do as much buyi ng and sh ipping a t the depot. I 
managed to keep the clerk's offi ce in pretty good shape. I did 
most the recording for th e clerk's office at my house n ights, fre· 
q uently work ing' un ti l II o'clock a t n ight. I ma naged to be at 
the passenger trains generally so th a t [here was no bult found 
with my work ... . 

Stamp was still r unnin g the mill and flOllr got down to a 
reasonable pri ce, abou l $5 per barrel, of CO llrse lIuctuating some 
wi th th e price of wheat. 

1860. Still agent at the T oledo &: Illinois railroad and st ill 
running the cl erk 's office. The year commenced pretty colcl,-
16 degrees below zero. Adela ide doing some recordin g for me 
in the clerk's oflice. On tbe 4th da y of Janua ry 1860 I bought 
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th e first ga llon of kerosene oi l, for which I paid one dollar an d 
a quarter a nd fift y ce nts for a can to put it in . 

On th e first day of J anu ary I put up ice a foot thick 'and ve ry 
clear. Paid th e December taxes for th e rai lroad compa ny in De­
fi ance COUnty , Ohio, 64 3.4 1. Telegraph ope rator on a bUill , 
broke both lamps and on the tenth he left. O rdered of Vandell­
broek a su it of grey clothes at 522 and gOt them on the 14th. 
Still bui lding fence on the rai lroad . 

On Sunday the 15th J any, Mrs. O rlando Evans, daughte r 
Mary, and Edward and Hattie Phelps took dinner a t Oll r house, 
-had turkey .· 

On th e 15th of March 1 commenced garde ning a li ttle by 
seaing out onions. Pie plant just coming out of the ground. 
Potatoes in th e spri ng 25t per bushel and flour $6 per barrel. 
I was buying corll, wheat and oats during the Slimmer. Bo· t 
48 1.34/56 bu . corn and 208 bu. wheat of Nathan Eaton. On th e 
9th of June my wife and I a nd the chi ldren and [a th er went to 

Coldwater, Mich., to visi t Dorothy W elch and fami ly , my sister. 
W e stayed there several days .... 

1861. This year I rail the mill and clerk 's office and the 
W abash depot . At th e rai lroad J. W. Phi ll ips had charge of the 
depot and I was there ge nera ll y at trai n time. I bought some 
corn and oats which I sh ipped to T oledo ... I retail ed considera· 
bl e flour in tlie winter and spr ing. Wheat was S 1.05 per bu. and 
flour 5.75 per bbl. After harvest whea t got down to 80t a nd 
flour to .$5.00 bu t wheat did not stay long at 80t but rai sed to 
90t a nd finally to $1 pe r bushel and flour to $6 per barrel. I 
had as miller a man by the name of Adams an d another by the 
name of Rowe . . 

I gOt $50 a t the depot and the Clerk's offi ce paid about S1000 
a year, but when I q uit the railroad building I was about 
$20,000 in debt and had some property, but was paying a high 
interest o f 3% a month on money an d non e less than 170 a 
mon th. I left th e depot a nd was appoi nted \\'ood agen t at -575 
per month but it took me away from home considera ble and 
my expenses were considerable but I held that position a bout 
a yea r and pa id ou t about $50,000. 
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i\I y wife was taken sick th e fall of 1861 and would not have 
a doctor although I im portuned her often. I did not know nor did 
she but I think from what I have since lea rned that she had a 
tumor, and she was sick , sometimes better and sometim es 
worse, all th e fall and winter.17 

NOTf.S 

L These reminiscences were jOllcd down from time to t ime in a blank book, 
and then rewrilLcn in final form on Decemher 22. 1892. and thereafter. Some 
rather extended recollections of Edwin Phelps had prcviously been published 
in iJefiance Expres, in 1887 and latcr were reprinted in the Defiance 
Crescent·News beginning November 20. 19M. For a brief 8ketch of his life 
sec Commemo1"at;u(:' iJiog>'(Jphicai Record of Norlh",(:'stutl Ohio ["eluding Ihe 
Counties 0/ Dejia'I"e, H enry, Williams and FU/tOfl. (Chicago, 1899), 11·13. 

2. Apparen tl)' he was not thinkin!; when he wrote this of his hoy hood journey 
to Massach use tts. 

3. The site of the present Masonic Temple in Defiance (1945). 
4. LO<:~ted at the present site of the I'illage of Maumee. 
5. The first .Iettlcment of white pl'Ople ill the present Henry County at what 

i:; nOW Damascus. 
6. Prominent residents o f iJcfiance in 1892. 
7. Ncar the foot of the presen t Jefferson Ave. not far from the present Defiance 

J'ublic Library. 
8. Mother of Eiben E. Carter, until his death in 1934, president of the SLa te 

Bank of Defiance. . 
9. Miss Mildred H aymaker of Defiance is a daughter of K. V. H aymaker. 

10. The second house below First St. on the east side of Wayne Ave ___ Defiance. 
I L A son of one of Anthony Wayne's officers and a leading pioneer. 
12. A point of ro<; k in the ~Iall!nce Ri'-er above the pre~ent W~terv ille. 

13. At Jefferson Avenue and Fi rst Streets, on the site where T. T. Shaw now 
re:;ido:s (19~5) . 

14. Later he w~, Major·General in the Civil War and afterwards edi tor of the 
Toledo Demoaat. 

15. Later he was author of N;,lOry of the Ma umee Valiey (Toledo, 1872) . 
16. The old dcpot ncar the ju nction of lhe n. & O. and Wahash Railroads. 
J7. )l.lr . Phelps was married again the next }'ear (Scptember 25, 1862). his new 

bride bcill!;" Miss Evali ne R ichardson of Defiance. T o thi, union six chi! · 
dren were born, two of whom died in infancy. The o the r children included 
th ree daughters, all living (1915): ~fary Alice ()l.In; . J. W. Ackley) of Gran· 
ville, O hio; Miss Helen Dorothy Phelps of Defiance; and Cornelia Abbie 
(M rs. Francis P . Weisenburger, Sr.) of Defiance. An only SOil , Edwin James, 
who hecame a lawyer and mayor of Muskogee, Okla., d ied in 1910. 

Mr. Phelps was active in Democratic politics, runn ing for Congres.s (1862) 
agai nst Morrison R . Waite. I;. ter Chief Justice of the U. S. Supreme Court. 
~nd James M. Ashley. The last mentioned won thc race and became a promi· 
nent leader of the House. Phclps cont inued in the count)' clerk's office in 
Defian(e with other "irons in lhe fire" for mallv yea rs. He was a de legate 
tn the iJemocratic National Co t]\"ention in Chicago in 1864. From 1879 to 

1886 he lived in Granville. O hio, where he operated a Hour mill. The la't 
year' of hi, life until his death in Sept., 189i , were ~pelll ~s deputy clerk 
of the courts of Defi;lllce county. 

124 


